Seton Hall University

eRepository @ Seton Hall

Seton Hall University Dissertations and Theses (ETDs) Seton Hall University Dissertations and Theses

Spring 5-14-2021

Do Community Schools Make a Difference? Comparing Community Schools and Noncommunity Schools in Baltimore City

Tiffany Bonds Mason tiffany.livingstone@student.shu.edu

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarship.shu.edu/dissertations

Part of the Educational Assessment, Evaluation, and Research Commons, Educational Leadership Commons, and the Elementary Education Commons

Recommended Citation

Bonds Mason, Tiffany, "Do Community Schools Make a Difference? Comparing Community Schools and Noncommunity Schools in Baltimore City" (2021). *Seton Hall University Dissertations and Theses (ETDs)*. 2905.

https://scholarship.shu.edu/dissertations/2905

Do Community Schools Make a Difference?

Comparing Community Schools and Noncommunity Schools in Baltimore City

by

Tiffany Bonds Mason

Submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree

Doctor of Education (Executive EdD)

Department of Education Leadership, Management, and Policy

Seton Hall University

May 2021

© 2021 Tiffany Bonds Mason



College of Education & Human Services Department of Education Leadership Management & Policy

APPROVAL FOR SUCCESSFUL DEFENSE

Tiffany Bonds Mason has successfully defended and made the required modifications to the text of the doctoral dissertation for the Ed.D. during this Spring Semester.

DISSERTATION COMMITTEE

(please sign and date)

Dr. Nicole DiCrecchio	
Mentor	Date
Dr. Jan Furman	
Committee Member	Date
Dr. Isaac Deas	
Committee Member	Date

The mentor and any other committee members who wish to review revisions will sign and date this document only when revisions have been completed. Please return this form to the Office of Graduate Studies, where it will be placed in the candidate's file and submit a copy with your final dissertation.

Acknowledgements

I would like to first acknowledge my Lord and savior, Jesus Christ, whose grace allowed me to complete this academic journey. He has ordered my steps to a conclusion that only He knows. May all of my deeds be pleasing in His sight.

I would like to recognize the late Drs. James Caulfield who inspired leadership through service to others and Gerard Babo who served as a mentor and encourager through the majority of my doctoral experience. I would also like to thank the members of my dissertation committee, Drs. Jan Furman, Nicole DiCrecchio, and Isaac Deas, for their insights, advice, and patience. I would also like to thank my peers, the members of Seton Hall University's Executive Leadership, Cohort XVI, for their spirit of partnership and camaraderie as we all navigate the role of education in the lives of children today.

Deep appreciation goes to my colleagues, Drs. Jillian Lewis-Darden, John Staley, and Michelle Trofort for their mentorship and friendship during the dissertation process.

My family has been a mainstay of inspiration. Thank you, to my mother, Bryana Minor, for her insistence that I was capable of all things through God who gives me strength. My sister, Alanna Campbell, is the model of what godly service to others looks like, and I thank her for being a great role model for me. Words cannot express my gratitude for Tanya Tindall, who was once a friend but is now a sister, who has striven and sacrificed in support of those that she loves, and I am eternally grateful to be counted in that number. I want to thank my son, DeAngelo, for his kind heart and the way he cherishes family. To my husband, Kevin Mason, who entered my life in time to champion me across the dissertation finish line, thank you for your warmth and quiet strength.

There is one person for whom this accomplishment has been in progress since she was in elementary school. She willingly spent her weekends and summers in the homes of loved ones so that I could study. She never complained and exuberantly celebrated my every step. My favorite blessing, my daughter Alexa, whom I have been given the gift of witnessing her grow into a dynamic young Christian woman and scientist, who will make differences of which we cannot yet conceive, thank you for all of the joy you bring to my life.

Abstract

Schools are frequently seen as the hubs of the community, providing resources and a gathering place for members of the community. The process of surveying the community in order to identify unique needs within the community, and then intentionally forging partnerships capable of ameliorating the specific needs, are strategies used by community schools to support their students and the communities from which they are drawn. Baltimore City Public Schools has created a community school management system in of their elementary schools. The purpose of this study was to determine the effect of community school management on the success of students in Baltimore City Public Schools in 2016 and 2017. Preexisting data were used to compare 40 community schools to 71 noncommunity schools in order to determine if there was a significant difference in the areas of student achievement (as measured by state assessment scores in reading and math), suspension data, attendance rates, and school climate. It was hypothesized that there would be a significant difference between community schools and noncommunity schools. The theoretical framework for the dissertation is the Theory of Overlapping Spheres of Influence established by Joyce Epstein (1987) which illustrates how the school, home, and community all hold sway over the well-being of children. So, it stands to reason that if community schools can positively impact families and communities, then the outcome would be positive school results for students. To determine if there was a difference in the student achievement of community schools and noncommunity schools, a Wilcoxon sum rank test was used to compare the PARCC state assessment result for ELA and Math in 2016 and 2017. The results were mixed with a statistically significant difference between community schools and noncommunity schools in Math in 2017 but no difference for Math 2016, ELA 2016, or ELA 2017. Using an independent samples t test, a statistically significant difference was seen

vi

between the attendance rates of community schools and noncommunity schools in 2017. The suspension rates of community schools and noncommunity schools in 2016 and 2017 was compared using a Wilcoxon sum rank test. A statistically significant difference was found in the suspension rates. A chi-square analysis was used to determine if a relationship existed between school climate and school management type. School climate was measured using student, parent, and staff responses to a school districtwide climate survey. The questions were categorized as fitting into one of three indices: Physical Security, Respectful Relationships, or School Connectedness in 2016 and 2016. There was a statistically significant difference between community schools and noncommunity schools in the Physical Security Index in 2017. The findings of this research offer insights into how we measure the success of school reform strategies that focus on impacting the often-complex needs within a community.

Keywords: community schools, school climate, student achievement, school suspensions, school attendance

Table of Contents

Sect	ion	Page
ACKNOWI	LEDGEMENTS	iv
ABSTRACT	Γ	vi
TABLE OF	CONTENTS	vii
LIST OF TA	ABLES	xiii
LIST O F FI	IGURES	xiv
CHAPTER		
Ι	Introduction	1
	Background	1
	Statement of the Problem	4
	Purpose of the Study	6
	Theoretical Framework	7
	Research Questions	8
	Study Design	8
	Significance of the Study	10
	Limitations	11
	Delimitations	12

	Assumptions	13
	Definition of Terms	13
	Organization of the Dissertation	15
II	Review of the Literature	17
	Theoretical Foundation	18
	Historical Context of Community Schools	22
	Contemporary Need for Community Schools	26
	Community Schools in Large Urban Districts	37
	Community Schools in Chicago, Illinois	37
	Community Schools in New York, New York	38
	Community Schools in Hartford, Connecticut	40
	Community Schools in Baltimore, Maryland	41
	School Climate	48
	Student Attendance	51
	Student Achievement	55
	Conclusion	59
III	Methodology	60
	Research Design	60

Research Questions	61
Data Sources	62
Data Collection	63
Measures	63
Attendance	63
Suspensions	64
Academic Achievement	64
School Climate	65
Data Analysis	66
Limitations of Data Analysis	68
Delimitations of Data Analysis	69
Summary	69
Introduction	70
Analysis of the Data	70
Research Design	70
Sample Population	71
Research Questions	71
Research Question 1: Academic Achievement	71

IV

Test for Normality	72
Means Data	74
Research Outcomes	75
Results for Research Question 1	78
Research Question 2: Attendance Rates	78
Test for Normality and Equality of Variance	79
Research Outcome	80
Results for Research Question 2	81
Research Question 3: Suspension Incidences	81
Test for Normality	82
Means Data	83
Results for Research Question 3	85
Research Question 4: School Climate	85
Crosstabulation	86
Research Outcomes	88
Results for Research Question 4	89
Summary	89
Introduction	92

V

Discussion	92
Summary of Findings	93
Limitations	96
Implications for Future Research	97
Conclusion	101
REFERENCES	103

LIST OF TABLES

Table		Page
1	Statistical Analyses	67
2	Percent of Students in Grades 3-5 Meet or Exceed Expectations	
	on the PARCC	72
3	Mean PARCC Scores for Noncommunity and Community Schools	75
4	Mean PARCC Student Proficiency Rate for Noncommunity and	
	Community Schools	75
5	Mean Attendance and Chronically Absent Rate for Noncommunity	
	and Community Schools	80
6	Mean Suspension Rate and Suspension Days for Noncommunity	
	and Community Schools	84
7	Frequency Tables for Chi Square	87

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure		Page
1	Joyce Epstein's Theory of Overlapping Spheres of Influence	19

Chapter 1

Introduction

Background

School reform has been a point of discussion since the creation of formal schooling. The nature of school reform is the acceptance that there is a problem with education or society that must be remedied. In order to reform, one must locate the issue at hand, design strategies to solve the problem, create mandates to enforce the implementation of strategies, and monitor the slight changes that occur (Tyack & Cuban, 1995). Although the source of the educational ills has been contested by many, thereby leading to educational fads and political posturing, the fact remains that the public at large believes that schools should have improved student achievement. In the August 2019 Gallup poll, 51% of the public responded that they were completely or somewhat satisfied with kindergarten to Grade 12 education in the United States (Education, 2019). These data illustrate that the concept of education reform within our society may be welcomed.

Educational reform is seen as the panacea for society's concerns with its citizens (Tyack & Cuban, 1995). This is a heavy burden to place on the framework of a structure designed to ensure that graduates are equipped with the tools needed to be gainfully employed and productive citizens. However, the sphere of operations of schools focuses on the factors of which they are directly in control. Professional development, teacher mentors, quality of instruction, and being culturally responsive to students are reform strategies in which schools have been prepared to act. Researchers such as the Southwest Educational Development Laboratory (Desimone, 2002) have provided thoughtful guidelines for schools to create environments conducive to reforming education. Their case studies yielded six clear strategies for reforming schools including: (a) creating a setting favorable to change, (b) creating and sharing the idea, (c)

preparation and providing resources, (d) financing professional development, (e) analyzing the initiatives, and (f) continued assistance and support (Blair & Southwest Educational Development Lab, 2000). While the strategies listed are ideal for shaping systems within a school, they do little to impact the community at large from which the children come.

School environments are influenced by many variables including staff development and the experience of the teachers, yet the attributes of the family such as the value parents put on education, the education level of the parents, and the employment status of the adults in the household are a dominant principal driving force on student achievement (Jargowsky & El Komi, 2009). Jargowsky and El Komi conducted a quantitative study of the reading and math achievement of students in the fifth to eighth grades across the state of Texas from 1989–2002 on the Texas Assessment of Academic Skills. Demographic data from the students were aligned with the data from the 2000 Census to create descriptors of student neighborhoods to study the effects of the constructs of a neighborhood on student achievement. Jargowsky and El Komi concluded that the poverty rate and economic isolation within a neighborhood contributes to inequalities between schools ultimately impacting student achievement. The findings concluded that the neighborhoods are a significant factor in the performance of schools, going so far as to indicate that the school reform can be best achieved with alleviating the concentrated economic struggles within communities (Jargowsky & El Komi, 2009).

The community school initiative in public schools across the nation is designed to provide wrap-around services and supports to not only school children but also to their families. Successful community schools have been seen in the Tulsa, Oklahoma, schools where students in community schools are academically outperforming their counterparts in traditional public schools on state tests in reading by 19 points and in math by 32 points (Momeni, 2015).

The value of the community school initiative can be seen in the funding and support received from the United States Department of Education. The U.S. Department of Education has an office specifically in place to award and monitor grants given to community school programs. In 2014, the U.S. Department of Education granted nearly \$5 million in Full-Service Community Schools grants to just nine establishments in six states (U.S. Department of Education, 2014b). In addition, cities such as Baltimore, Boston, Chicago, New York, Cambridge, Minneapolis, Miami, Philadelphia, and more have implemented community school programs as strategies to impact student achievement. The expansion and advancement of community educational institutions is a signal that linkages between the community and school are emerging as a commonly accepted practice when restructuring schools (Blank & Jamal, 2014). Investors who devote their time and resources to community schools see themselves as supporting not only the school but the community as a whole (Blank et al., 2010). The intent of the current study is to research the impact of community schools on student achievement, attendance rates, and school climate for students in Baltimore City public schools.

Not all community school initiatives receive the high notoriety, but there are the types of comprehensive school reform encouraged by educational policymakers to provide opportunities for students and families where few options existed in the past. In many areas, the inclusion of community school programs serves to provide a center of activity intended for families, children, and youth by providing a selection of community services that encourage academic success not by imitating schools, but by supplementing the schools' academic emphasis with an inclusive approach to meeting the broad needs of the children. This association not only benefits the youth and children taking part but strengthens their families, the community, and the schools (Afterschool Alliance, 2007). While communities may not be equipped to solve all problems

with employment, violence, and poverty, through their partnership with schools and families, factors that negatively impact student success and school climate may be mitigated. Community school programs rely on the partnerships between the school and the surrounding community. Interdependence between families, community partnerships, and school resources allow for an increased focus on a common objective, ultimately allowing everyone to benefit (Afterschool Alliance, 2007). Community schools encourage family and community involvement, contributing to enhanced student success (Alonso et al., 2011). These schools are sometimes commonplace in low-income communities such as in Baltimore City.

The need for a partnership between schools, families, and the community is exacerbated in times of strife. The outbreak of the COVID-19 virus left a ripple effect that impacted all aspects of society. Like many school districts across the United States, the Baltimore City Public School System was forced to design a new approach to learning that relied upon the collaboration between families, school staff, and the community at large. On Thursday, March 12, 2020, Governor Larry Hogan announced that in order to slow the spread of COVID-19, schools across the state of Maryland would be closed to students in order to perform extensive cleaning beginning on March 16, 2020 ("Governor Hogan Announces Major Action," 2020). In order to support their students and the families of those students, Baltimore City Public Schools provided computers, distance learning opportunities, 30-pound boxes of food distributed by the National Guard, video conferences for families with children experiencing social–emotional needs, free STEM art kits, and links to Sprint and Comcast so families in need can increase their bandwidth for free or have access to free mobile hotspots ("Family Focused Updates," 2020).

Statement of the Problem

Community schools create an opportunity for partnership between the community and the school and include many benefits such as job training for adults, English language courses for community members, food pantries, and mental and physical health support for students and families. In 2008, the National Education Association reported that having schools supported by parents and community members is a positive occurrence; when communities, families, schools, and parents work together to support learning, students often obtain higher grades, attend classes more frequently, stay in school for a longer period, and join in higher level educational programs (National Education Association, 2008). Promising anecdotal results have prompted the operation of community schools in 49 states and the District of Columbia; yet, despite these operational successes, there continues to be a dearth of research on their impact. Promising results from Coalition for Community Schools reports (Jacobson et al., 2013) suggests that community schools themselves expand the opportunities that children have to learn beyond the school day; however, empirical research regarding the impact of the opportunities provided by community schools is missing (Olson, 2014).

Within any school, intricate relationships are formed between the students, staff, parents, and the surrounding community. Adults and children within a school interact according to preexisting norms that shape their collective experiences and determine the character of school life. Through these relationships, the norms, goals, and organizational structure of a school can be seen ("Connecting Communities of Courage", 2018. When assessing school climate, the National School Climate Center recommends assessing safety, relationships, teaching and learning, and the external environment.

The call for educational researchers to scrutinize this proposed educational reform component comes from many. Moore (2014) suggested that the combination or specific support

systems that are present in community schools lack sufficient evaluation or empirical research needed to determine that this is an effective school reform model.

Purpose of the Study

The purpose of this research is to explore the impact of the community school model on student achievement, attendance rates, suspension rates, and school climate for students attending community schools in Baltimore City. Funding for the Baltimore City Community Schools Initiative has been in place since 2005, to service over 17,000 students and their families. This study compared schools in the community school initiative to their nonparticipant counterparts in the areas of student achievement, attendance, suspension rates, and school climate, using Baltimore City school report data, which is common to every school in the Baltimore City Public School System. This research will also add to the body of knowledge created by Momeni (2015) who researched high school student achievement by analyzing the results of Baltimore City elementary schools. This study will also extend the work of the Baltimore Educational Research Consortium, which studied the student achievement, attendance, and school climate of schools of comparable economic status (Wohn & Boberiene, 2018), as opposed to studying comparing schools by of differing management types such as traditional neighborhood schools or community schools.

Theoretical Framework

The two most prominent spheres of influence in a child's life are family and school. When those spheres have common goals for the child (i.e., academic success, work habits, citizenship), then those spheres of influence will overlap. Additionally, communities also share some of the same goals for the child as the family or school. These common areas of interest in a student's well-being are referred to as the overlapping spheres of influence (Epstein & Salinas, 2004). When community stakeholders such as businesses, universities, and healthcare providers partner with families and schools in the development of community school programs that address specific needs, then the community itself becomes a sphere of influence. Due to the comprehensive school reform strategies that have been applied in the last 20 years, relations between schools and families have transformed from a provider-receiver model to one of a collaboration and partnership and shared accountability between families, schools, and the greater community (Stein, 2009). When considering the influences on a child, it is tempting for each family, school, or community entity to focus on what is inside of its isolated realm, hoping that the other realms are effectively managing that which is within their respective purviews. When it comes to developing successful children, a challenge exists when attempting to distinguish between indicators for success that reside solely the realm of the parents, school, or community (Sirgy & Wu, 2009). For example, schools are held accountable by the state for maintaining high attendance due to national compulsory attendance laws, but it is because of partnerships with parents that the desired attendance rate is attained. Community stakeholders, such as business, negatively influence parents with the thought of wage loss if a parent misses work due to student suspensions (Stein, 2009).

When the spheres of influence supporting children are intentionally interconnected, the children are more likely to hear common language around academic goals. The effectiveness of the effort to involve all stakeholders in student success may be quantifiable (Ravitch, 1983).

Research Questions

This research was designed in a quantitative approach to answer the following research questions:

Research Question 1: What is the difference in academic achievement of community schools and noncommunity schools in 2016 and 2017?

Research Question 2: What is the difference in the attendance rates of community schools and noncommunity schools in 2016 and 2017?

Research Question 3: What is the difference in the suspension rate of Baltimore City community schools and noncommunity schools in 2016 and 2017?

Research Question 4: What is the relationship between school climate indices (physical security, respectful relationships, school connectedness) and the community school management type in Baltimore City Schools in 2016 and 2017?

Study Design

The quantitative student success data points that were used for each school are student performance on the 2017 Partnership for Assessment of Readiness for College and Careers (PARCC) and the school's attendance rate. In addition, the school climate data points reported for each Baltimore City school in 2017 are physical security, respectful relationships, and school connectedness. This study design examined the quantitative data gathered from the preexisting student success and school climate data for each school. Data from school profiles of each of the 121 Baltimore City public schools was collected and then analyzed in the aggregate in order to determine if a statistically significant relationship exists between student success and/or school climate between the 40 schools that have community school programs and the 81 schools in Baltimore City that do not have such an initiative in place.

Of the 121 Baltimore City public elementary schools servicing students in Grades 3 through 5, two schools were not being considered for this research as they are described as "Separate Public Day" or an "Alternative Program" whose schools measure student achievement by a means that is alternate to the Baltimore City school report data. Due to the highly fluid student enrollments in the schools, and the fact that their populations come from a variety of neighborhoods across the region, their data may provide results that would be difficult to replicate and may not reflect the impact of a specific community of stakeholders. These special programs were therefore eliminated from the study. Elementary schools that do not service Grades 3 through 5 were not considered for this study, as there was no student achievement data from standardized state assessments. Of the 121 Baltimore City public elementary schools servicing Grades three through five, 42 schools had community school programs in 2017.

Baltimore City Public Schools publishes individual school profile data containing student success regarding standardized assessments, suspension, and rates of attendance. Likewise, the school profiles contain school climate data related to three specific indexes: physical security, respectful relationships, and school connectedness. These data were also analyzed to determine if there is a relationship between the school climate in schools with a community school type of management, possibly resulting in a more favorable climate in a community school than in a school with a traditional school model. Data were gathered and analyzed for each of the 121

schools. These data were provided by the School Profiles for Baltimore City Public Schools (Baltimore City Public Schools, 2017), as well by as teacher and student data reported by the Maryland State Department of Education (MSDE, 2018) Independent sample *t* tests were used to compare the performance of Baltimore City students in Grades 3 through 5 who attend a community school versus students who do not attend a community school. The data that were analyzed in this manner were achievement data on the 2017 Maryland State PARCC assessment, attendance rates, and suspension rates. A chi-square analysis was used to measure the relationship between school climate indices for community schools and noncommunity schools, measuring the percentages of respondents in each school that indicated high levels of physical security, respectful relationships, and school connectedness. The unit of analysis for the study was the school. Through the investigation of data collected about Baltimore City schools, this study determined if there is a significant difference between community school management system and noncommunity schools in the areas of academic performance, attendance rate, suspension rates.

Significance of the Study

According to the Baltimore City Health Department, the percentage of families with children below the age of 18 living beneath the poverty level in 2017 was 28.8% (Baltimore City 2017 Neighborhood Health Profile, 2017). The national poverty average for 2017 was 12.3% (Fontenot, Semega, & Kollar, 2018), and the Maryland average for that same timespan was 9.7% (Maryland Poverty Rate, 2017). The Family League of Baltimore began servicing some of Baltimore City's most impoverished schools as a facilitating community schools partner in 2012, to develop 45 schools into community schools (Family League of Baltimore, 2017). Every community school is under a community school coordinator who creates and manages

partnerships with local community organizations. This leads to an environment where the student's well-being is enhanced by social and health support, academics, family engagement, community, and youth development (Epstein & Salinas, 2004). This study determined if there is a difference between students in Baltimore City community schools and those not in community schools, in outcomes such as attendance, suspension rates, academic achievement, and school climate. This research will further the discussion of whether or not implementing community schools is an effective school reform strategy. Each of the community partners for a Baltimore City community school is referred to as a lead agency. The lead agencies in Baltimore City partner with the schools to provide services based upon needs within the school's community (BCPSS, 2016b). Those services can generally be placed in one of seven categories: health services for students and community members, educational enrichment for students, adult education for community members, before- and after-school programs, food and nutrition for community members, social and emotional support for community members, and staff development for schools. Community schools, by their design, seek to impact the capacity of the community at large. Children's responses to their learning environments are enhanced by their community's capacity to encourage their academic achievements (Holloway, 2004). Research can be used to compare the achievements, attendance rates, suspension rate, and school climate of Baltimore City community school initiative participants to those schools that are nonparticipants. These types of data would be significant for the larger community development landscape by those contemplating strategies that have an impact on student achievement by providing equitable access to community resources.

Limitations

Principals of community schools must be adept at bridging the scholastic world and the needs of the community (Jehl et al., 2001). This advanced training may not be undertaken by all school administrators to the same degree. The variability in the professional development and experiences of the school administrators may cause a limitation in the research as it is an additional variable in the rates of success reported. To address this limitation, Baltimore City Public Schools employs a full-time coordinator for each community school who is responsible for coordinating the school and family programs and acting as a liaison between the school's staff and the community (Family League of Baltimore, 2020).

Another limitation is the relatively small sample size for the study. The sample size for this research is 121 schools. The limitation of the small sample size was addressed by aggregating the data to consider if there is a significant difference between community school success and that of noncommunity schools in Baltimore City, as measured by attendance rates, suspensions, academic achievement, and school climate. Having a sample size that is at least 10 times the number of variables being analyzed has been found to be effective (StatSoft, 2013). The limitation for this study was that it can only determine differences between noncommunity schools and community schools on student achievement and school climate. The research cannot provide the causes of any of the performance trends or climate indexes.

Delimitations

A delimitation may be found in that only schools within Baltimore City were researched. Schools in districts of a much smaller size, in rural communities, or with demographic data dissimilar to that of Baltimore City may not have the same resources or needs and therefore garner differing results from those that were found in this study (Baron, 2015). These delimitations may inhibit these data from being generalized to other schools across the nation.

Additionally, the foci of the community school programs can vary across the different schools and partnerships. This study did not account for community school partnerships outside of Baltimore City, nor will it be able to account for types of community school partnerships not present in community schools within Baltimore City (Sturt & Nordstrom, 2013).

Assumptions

There are four underlying assumptions of this study. The first is that the climate surveys that were administered to the students, parents, and faculty were administered and collected with a similar level of fidelity on each school campus. The yearly review is availed to learners in Grades 3 to 12, their parents, all staff in the school, and parents of pupils in pre-kindergarten to Grade 12. The data is not recorded in case any if the groups have five or less respondents. It can also apply in case where the response levels for staff and students or staff is less than 30% (Baltimore City Public Schools, 2020c). The second assumption is that each of the community school programs received a similarly trained full-time school-based coordinator to oversee the implementation of the community programs with fidelity. While community school programs may affect student success or school climate, the assumption entails defining the sole cause for any identified changes in student success or school climate. The third assumption is that each of the various community partnership programs have been deemed to be the most appropriate and meaningful to address identified needs of the specific students, families, school, and community.

Definition of Terms

Community schools: Community schools are defined as schools in which programs are in place to transform public schools into neighborhood hubs. These were used to enhance the experience

of students by providing a myriad of amenities for community members, parents, and students such as financial support, adult tutoring, health, monetary and social backing (Green & Goodman, 2014). They entail application of wrap-around services in a specific school district to assist students to succeed. Community schools provide all-inclusive physical, mental, academic and education services to meet the community, family, and student needs. The main goal of launching a community school program in a district is to guarantee that students have an established roadmap from preschool to college and career (Momeni, 2015).

Student success: Student success in a school is defined in this research by examining three areas: student achievement, attendance rate, and number of school suspensions.

a. Student achievement is the percentage of students who score proficient or advanced in reading or math content areas on a state assessment (Baltimore City Public School System, School Profiles, 2017).

b. Attendance rate is determined based on the total sum of days in school divided by the total sum of days registered during the school year (Baltimore City Public School System, School Profiles, 2017).

c. Suspension is based on the number of disciplinary incidences that resulted in being required to miss school. If the student is suspended twice, then this would mean that they have two suspension incidences (Baltimore City Public School System, School Profiles, 2017).

School climate: School climate in this research was determined by reviewing survey data from The Comprehensive School Climate Inventory, which is offered to all students, parents, and staff members in Baltimore City Public Schools each year. This empirically validated tool provides insights into three key components of school climate: safety (physical security index),

interpersonal relationships (respectful relationships index), and institutional environment (school connectedness index).

a. Physical security index is the degree to which both staff and students feel secure and safe in the school environment, parents are aware that their children are safe and there is no issue where students carry weapons to schools and engage in fighting (Baltimore City Public School System, School Profiles, 2017).

b. Respectful relationships index is the degree to which staff and students report that a respectful relationship exists between staff and students and among the students (Baltimore City Public School System, School Profiles, 2017).

c. School connectedness index is the degree to which staff and learners have a sense of belonging, that parents feel comfortable, that parents and staff work together to meet the wishes of students, and that the school administration is approachable to staff and parent apprehensions (Baltimore City Public School System, School Profiles, 2017).

Organization of the Dissertation

The remaining chapters of this dissertation are organized as follows: In Chapter 2, the background information regarding community schools as a school reform strategy, as well as the benefit of designing strategies to connect a student's distinct spheres of influence will be presented. Specifically, examples of community school designs from Chicago, New York City, and Philadelphia will be reviewed in order to identify traits within their community school initiatives that may be compared to Baltimore City's efforts to use community school programs to reform education. Additionally, research on how Epstein's overlapping spheres of influence theory addresses many of the student needs identified by Maslow's hierarchy of needs will be

presented. Chapter 3 will detail the steps that were taken to create a fair analysis of school data. All Baltimore City public schools that were in existence between 2015 and 2017, with Grades 3– 5, that are not an alternative placement school will be included in this study. By gathering variable data from the 40 participating community schools and 81 nonparticipating public schools in Baltimore City, objectivity will be maintained, and an appropriate effect size for the objective research will be obtained. Chapter 4 will contain an objectively presented articulation of the research results. The process used to analyze the data points will occur. Through the use of tables/charts to illustrate data analysis, an explanation of the results will occur. Chapter 5 will assess the significance of the research findings. After a discussion of the results, recommendations for practice and for future research will be stated.

Chapter 2

Review of the Literature

This study sought to determine the differences that may exist between community schools and noncommunity schools in Baltimore City. Achievement, attendance rate, and school climate will be examined in order to gain an accurate view of community schools and their structuring. This literature review examines empirical studies on community schools within the past 10 years, as well as the writings of notable early educational researchers. Empirical evidence will be utilized in the identification of unifiers between community schools and their designs in order to provide examples of the impact of community schools across the United States. Research related to this study's topic were accessed using the Seton Hall online research databases (ERIC, SAGE, and ProQuest) to locate peer-reviewed journals with research relevant to this study. Boolean search terms on Google Scholar included, "community schools," "community schools AND school reform," "community schools AND school climate," "community schools AND student achievement," and "community schools AND student attendance." Through these search procedures, reputable and reliable evidence was gathered to enrich the discussion of community schools in this literature review.

Studies included in this literature review included the following criteria: peer-reviewed studies; studies that were not peer-reviewed were referenced only to contribute to the timeline for the development of the community school model; community school studies that were conducted within the past 15 years; studies focused on student achievement, student attendance rates, or school climate in community schools; and studies using either quantitative and/or qualitative methodologies. These inclusion criteria were chosen in order to maintain the integrity of this literature review and ensure its credibility is established. Each study chosen served the purpose

of adding to the exploration of community schools. Information about student achievement, student attendance rates, and school climate in community schools was considered as indicative of whether or not the community school model has been effective in various settings.

This chapter is structured as follows, beginning with the discussion of the theoretical foundation, Joyce Epstein's spheres of overlapping influence. The third section will examine the historical context for the development of community school programs. The next three sections will examine the use of community schools in the urban school districts of Chicago, New York City, Hartford, and Baltimore City. The remaining three sections will discuss research on school climate, school attendance, and student achievement. This chapter ends with a brief summary of the chapter in a concluding paragraph, which also sets the stage for content to be discussed in Chapter 3.

Theoretical Foundation

One might think that parental involvement in schools need not be structured, and, that if left to their own devices, the formation of a decision-making core of parent partners will develop organically. With working parents struggling to find a place in their child's academic lives, and schools seeking partners in the education of children living in increasingly complex neighborhoods, Joyce Epstein has emerged as a voice for how to establish strong connections between parents and schools in support of student achievement.

Epstein (2006) identified three specific stakeholders involved in encouraging student achievement. Those stakeholders are the families, the schools, and the community. The visual image used to depict the roles of the stakeholders has the child in the center, and each

stakeholder a sphere covering the child, with the three spheres overlapping, as a triple Venn diagram, in certain areas on the image (see Figure 1).

Figure 1

Joyce Epstein's Theory of Overlapping Spheres of Influence



This triple Venn diagram model illustrates Joyce Epstein's theory that the family, school, and community are each stakeholders, which influence a school-aged child. Adapted from "Schools, Families, and Community: Overlapping Spheres of Influence," by S. Feasey, 2017, The Road Less Travelled By, <u>https://theroadlesstravelledby.com/2017/09/28/.</u>

This graphic overlap is intentional as it represents common interests and shared influence over the student (Epstein, 2006). Including parents and community members is not relegated to merely helping to prepare crafts in the classroom or to be a volunteer reader for a group of children. It is the hope that, through creating intentional pathways to partner with the schools, the families and community members will become empowered to be involved in some decisionmaking at the school and serve as advocates for students and school programs (Epstein, Sanders, Simon, Salinas, Jansorn, & Van Vorhis, 2002). When home, school, and community are strategically interconnected, the outcome is increased parental involvement, leading to more students passing their standardized tests (Sheldon, 2007). Student attitudes about school as well as their academic performance improves when they have the opportunity to interact with stakeholders in their community (Epstein, 2006).

While the primary goal of the overlapping spheres of influence is to positively impact student achievement, the reported benefits of partnerships between families, schools, and communities do not stop at the student level. The overall climate of a building often refers to the impression that not only the students have of their learning environment but also the impressions of the parents, community, and staff members. Well-developed partnerships can result in adult education that can enhance the job skills of the parents, provide support to families, as well as provide classroom assistance to the teachers. These widespread needs are most apparent in distressed communities where the ravages of poverty underscore the need to pool resources in order to provide for the students in a way that none of the stakeholders can accomplish on their own (Epstein & Salinas, 2004). Whether the community is urban or rural, students who are living in poverty-stricken conditions bring with them social and emotional needs that can overtax a school and pull the resources away from academic achievement and place them on meeting the basic needs of the students. Pooling the resources of the schools, families, and communities can be used to provide students with what they need in order to thrive (Waddock, 1995). Born out of necessity, the partnerships between the overlapping spheres of influence, the schools, community, and families are able to promote not only academic success for students but also physical, mental, and emotional health (Nettles, 1991).

The impact of the spheres of overlapping influence on the needs of parents was studied (Halsey, 2001). The pilot instrumental case study design used a sample of 8 teachers and 20 parents from Redwood Junior High School. The participants were selected by the school's

principal, and interviews were conducted on the school's campus by the researcher. Redwood Junior High School serves Grades 6 through 8, with a student population that is 71% White and 29% Hispanic. Almost 16% of the students at Redwood Junior High qualify for special education services, less than two percent of the student population are not native English speakers, and almost 11% are identified as gifted and talented (Halsey, 2001). The Redwood Independent School District in California is a suburban district whose residents are considered economically disadvantaged. Results of the study indicated that the students preferred for the parents to be more involved during extracurricular activities such as sports than to serve as volunteers in the classrooms. Parents, students, and teachers all agreed that clear home–school communication was valuable. The teachers preferred to use global communication approaches such as newsletters to the families, while parents preferred personal connections and communication. Teachers who were most successful in securing parent partners were able to find a balance that met the needs of the parents (Halsey, 2001). In order to be successful, all stakeholders must possess the ability to be effective communicators and willing collaborators (Sanders, 2003).

A correlational study (Elliott and Elliott, 1996) of Epstein's overlapping spheres of influence was conducted in 1996. Parents of students in Grades 4 through 8 in Mitchell County, North Carolina, voluntarily responded to surveys. To encourage a high level of participation, each teacher who disseminated the survey to his or her parents received five dollars, and every student whose parents returned the survey received a coupon for a free order of French fries at McDonald's. The results of 689 returned questionnaires were analyzed with the purpose of defining the relationships between parental involvement and different areas of student achievement. Elliott and Elliott found that there was no significant relationship between student achievement and parental involvement. However, there was a significant relationship between
parental involvement and community outreach, and student achievement (Elliott and Elliott, 1996).

Epstein's theory of the overlapping spheres of influence has provided a framework for researchers and educational supporters seeking to be intentional in their efforts to forge strong partnerships between schools, families, and communities. At the time of this writing, Dr. Epstein serves as the director of the Center on School, Family, and Community Partnerships of Johns Hopkins University. This center plays a key role in the evaluation of Baltimore City Community Schools. Johns Hopkins University partnered with Morgan State University and Baltimore City Public Schools in 2006 to form the Baltimore Education Research Consortium (BERC). BERC provides research into best practices for schools and educational program analytics, including periodically reviewing the progress of community schools in Baltimore City (Connolly et al., 2012).

Epstein's theoretical framework will serve as the overlay through which community school designs in Baltimore City Public Schools are viewed in this dissertation. The argument can also be made that all community schools are built on this theory, whether directly or indirectly. This argument is backed by the idea that all community schools seek to provide services outside of the classroom and partner with those in the lives of the students; this is the basis of the theory.

Historical Context of Community Schools

Change is constant. That is as true today as it was in 500 BC when the Greek philosopher Heraclitus was said to have observed the ever-changing state of the world around him (Heraclitus & Khan, 1981). As communities began to move from agrarian to industrial, the 1900s in

America was a time of revolutionary change. While the industrial age shifted many working conditions and realities, children were still found working side by side with adults, reaping, sowing, and weaving (Hansan, 2011). Children who did not work found themselves in school. Sage advice lavished lovingly at one's familial charges was replaced with stern memorization and small wooden desks arranged in rows of geometric precision. The approach of many schools of the time was to create submissive workers who were disciplined to endure the unpleasantries of the factories that they would likely be employed by throughout their adult lives (Schrager, 2018).

With the large increase in immigration that came with the early 1900s, schools were being filled with more cultures than ever before. In an attempt to create uniformity, many schools became centers for Americanization, later to be described as courses in citizenship. Inside the schoolhouse walls, students would learn how to act and behave in ways that suited their new home. Schools existed then to educate not only about scholarly topics but to teach about American social normality (Prinzing, 2004). The shifts in the intention of education occurred because of the dramatic changes taking place in American society. Notable educational theorist and philosopher, John Dewey, insisted that schools too should change with the times. Dewey's notions of school reform began to take root in 1900 and branched out to a variety of facets of education. However, in 1902, he began to write not only about how children learn but about the role of the school itself (Benson et al., 2007). Recognizing the wealth of knowledge and skills within increasingly disconnected communities, Dewey proposed that schools actively tap into the rich religious, educational, and social resources that were existent in the communities (Dewey, 1902). He thus recommended that schoolhouses become the center of social life for the

community. It was his contention that schools had a unique role in organizing members of the community and would be less effective without this collaboration (Dewey & Dewey, 1915).

Supporters of Dewey's work held that school life and community life should be indistinguishable (Clapp, 1939), and the lives of adults and children in the community are perpetually interwoven. Schools taking up the social center banner created school structures found common in schools today, such as gymnasiums, auditoriums, health rooms, and showers. The community school concept made its way to Flint, Michigan, in the 1930s when the Mott Foundation pioneered schools that were open after hours for learning, recreation, and social activities (Jordan, 1999). The strength and resilience of communities, anchored by the school as their social center, was an unintended by-product of the legally required racial segregation of schools from the 1920s to the late 1960s. Supporters of the community school model held that educational institutions are a critical social hub for the community itself and that viewing schools as centers for resources, learning, and social education is important in realizing the full potential of an educational environment (Walker, 2000).

Child psychiatrist and educational researcher, James P. Comer believed that school district standards on interpersonal interactions and professional decorum serve to isolate teachers from the communities of their students. He taught that schools should be responsive to the needs of the community (Comer, 1980). In the 1960s, the Comer School Development Program, or the Comer Process, was launched to provide a framework for scaling the social and cultural divide between school and the homes of the students, particularly those from low-income households. Dr. Comer began his project with two schools in New Haven, CT, where the majority of the students came from low-income households. In 1968, the students at the schools were performing well below the national norms. After having implemented the Comer Process and by

1979, both schools surpassed the national norms (Anson et al., 1991). The socioeconomic makeup for the two schools was unchanged.

The Comer School Development Program was designed to create a sense of shared ownership in the decision-making of the school. The required tripartite components of the Comer Process are three purposeful teams: School Planning and Management Team, Mental Health Team, and Parent Program Team. The members of the School Planning and Management Team hold the school accountable for making decisions based on researched needs of the community. Professional development delivered by the Mental Health Team provides school-wide training on how to operate with the intention of building healthy relationships. Collaboration with the parents and caregivers in the community is coveted by the Parent Program Team (Comer, 1988). Comer Process schools are intentionally designed to build the relational trust that was once enjoyed when schools were seen as the social hub of a community.

The three benefits of implementing the Comer Process are: increasing broad teacher buyin during decision making, further collegial sharing across the staff, and a dedication to accepting the challenge of improving the school (Bryk & Schneider, 2003). A longitudinal study of 28 years of implementation of the Comer Process found that it strengthened the connections between urban school professionals and parents of low socioeconomic status, which, in turn, improved their children's academic achievement (Comer et al., 1996).

Comer's structure indicates student achievement is attained:

through a better social climate in the school at large, through the casework and prevention activities of the Mental Health Team, through the greater involvement of parents, through professional development activities aimed at improving student behavior

in the building, and through teachers' better understanding of human development and how it is affected by race and poverty. (as cited in Cook & Hirschfield, 2008, p. 40)

Because of the overlapping of each team's influence, accountability is established, and students have a larger network to rely on for a variety of needs. By examining the areas of need in a community, schools can identify resources that may be created especially for their unique student body. For example, in neighborhoods riddled with the crime, juvenile offenders often become repeat offenders later in life, are less likely to do well educationally, and it is statistically improbable for them to create a reliable household (Sampson & Laub, 1993). School-based strategies can be implemented to support immediate family needs, which may later deter criminal activities within a community. Economically blighted communities have been found to have the fewest social connections within the community. In these instances, strong school and community partnerships allow stakeholders to positively impact the neighborhood as connections are made between its residents through the services within the school (Blank et al., 2003; Castrechini et al., 2012).

Contemporary Need for Community Schools

Using schools as a resource for the greater community is a concept that has endured for over a hundred years. Many school districts across the United States have turned to the community school model to meet the needs of the populations that they serve. The community school effort can be described as strategically attempting to infuse the structures needed to support community improvement including human and physical resources (Kerensky, 1981) with an effort to focus on the relationship between the school and the community that it serves. Interest in community schools was heightened when President Clinton budged \$200–600 million dollars for the "21st Century Community Learning Center." This was a funding source set aside

specifically for schools able to demonstrate in their application they were collaborating with community-based organizations, social service agencies, and other community business partners to meet the identified needs of a community (Jordan, 1999).

The United States Department of Education recognized the value of the community schools, agreeing that in order to meet the needs of a child, one must also address the needs of the family from which the child comes. Within this ideology, the family, community, and school all have a common goal: the well-being of the students. Community schools create a place where academic, social, and health services are provided for children and adults, for the purpose of improving the academic performance of children. Because many of the schools that have been transformed into community schools serve populations who live below the poverty line, many community schools also receive Title I funds. In 2009, the United States Department of Education (USDE) Office of Elementary and Secondary Education (U.S. Department of Education, 2014b) provided guidance to schools seeking to use Title I funds for community school initiatives.

The USDE stated that as long as a school has engaged in a comprehensive needs assessment, then Title I, Part A, ARRA funds may be used for key community school initiatives such as the hiring of a program coordinator, staff professional development, paying for academic enrichment programs, and workshops to increase parental capacity with regard to school-based academics. Funds may not be used for mental health services, extracurricular activities such as sports, or for strategies to meet the needs of the community such as job fairs or financial awareness seminars (United States Department of Education, 2014a). Local education agencies may access resources such as the Fund for the Improvement of Education (FIE), which is authorized by section 5411 of the Elementary and Secondary Education Act (ESEA) of 1965, to

support community school projects such as high-quality early learning programs and service; remedial education, aligned with academic supports and other enrichment activities, providing students with a comprehensive academic program; family engagement, including parental involvement, parent leadership, family literacy, and parent education programs; mentoring and other youth development programs; community service and service learning opportunities; programs that provide assistance to students who have been chronically absent, truant, suspended, or expelled; job training and career counseling services; nutrition services and physical activities; primary health and dental care; activities that improve access to and use of social service programs and programs that promote family financial stability; mental health services; and adult education, including instruction of adults in English as a second language (United States Department of Education, 2015).

Idyllic community school aspirations are captured in the quote, "The heart of the community school is a set of partnerships between the school and community organizations to create an integrated program that combines academic and family support" (Fratt, 2006, p. 67). Community school organizers recognize that the community at large contains fertile resources and often a vested interest in the success of its schools, holding that the responsibility of student success rests on the shoulders of all within the community and not just the parent (Roche et al., 2019). Community schools may be as unique as the different neighborhoods in which they exist, yet they address common aspirations of delivering student achievement, engaging parents, and community members as leaders in schools, improving community dynamics, and maintaining healthy children and families utilizing community schools as the hub that provides the critical components that give guidance for how schools should serve their communities (Coalition for Community Schools, 2020).

In Epstein's theory of overlapping influences, the stakeholders that support the students are the schools, families, and communities. School programs begin with a needs assessment in order to determine the prevailing needs of the students and community resources available to address those needs (Coltoff et al., 1997). Once the needs are identified, a strategic plan is created. That plan outlines the milestones that will be met in order to measure the effectiveness of the strategic plan's actions (Coltoff et al., 1997). From there, the community school coordinator assists in securing appropriate partners that possess the skills and resources to mitigate the areas of need identified by the needs assessments (FitzGerald & Quinones, 2018). The community school coordinator also monitors the milestones outlined in the strategic plan in collaboration with the school staff, families, and community partners (Coalition for Community Schools, 2020). The partnerships within a community school are deliberately selected based on their unique position of being a resource capable of addressing a specific area of need identified through the needs assessment. In this way, community schools are more of a mode of operation than a specific building location (Gomez et al., 2012).

Community schools are designed to impact an identified area of need to enhance student achievement. The supports available through the school may include extended day programs, integrated family support services, and/or designs to strategically engage the families and communities in the school (Daniel, Snyder, Stanford Center for Opportunity Policy in Education, &

University of Colorado at Boulder, 2016). The features are designed to mitigate any barriers to student success (Blank et al., 2009) such as creating food pantries, providing physical and/or emotional healthcare, classes such as English language services for family members,

aftercare for working parents, and student tutoring. Effective coordination of the stakeholders will serve to benefit the students' overall development (Sheldon, 2007).

According Momeni's research in the school year 2011-2012 of a community high school in Sacramento, California, learners are motivated by the intrinsic desire to achieve satisfaction at every stage of Maslow's hierarchy of needs (Momeni, 2015). Therefore, if a child, by virtue of limited opportunities for enrichment and academic preparation outside of school, had not their physiological or safety needs met, then they would be highly unlikely to devote their energy to critical thinking, academic perseverance, problem-solving, and creative expression, no matter the skill level of the classroom teacher (Momeni, 2015).

People may experience a diversity of needs, simultaneously or at sporadic intervals each day, thereby requiring a variety of social experiences, self-actualization opportunities, and demands for physical need fulfillment (Diener et al., 2008). Despite the fact that Maslow based his arguments on individuals, societal effects are key when analyzing a person's life when the needs of others have been achieved in a society. The broad-reaching conclusion is that the society must be changed first before effective implementation of changes or advancements at individual levels can be seen (Tay & Diener, 2011).

There is a learning opportunity gap between children in poverty-ridden communities and those who are raised in more affluent ones. Low-income neighborhoods have the fewest resources while the schoolhouse is charged with creating equitable learning opportunities to compensate for the scarcity of the types of resources that would translate into meaningful connections to academic curricula (Alexander et al., 2014).

Schools are equalizers in that there is a common goal for all of the learners: to graduate students into being capable and productive members of society. The pathway into getting to this finish line, however, is quite varied depending on the needs of the learner. In the classroom, equal is not the ideal and is in fact quite unfair. Teachers are charged with using equitable practices such as differentiated instruction to bring the students to the point of being equally competitive at their time of graduation (Sun, 2014). The ills of society produce youth who suffer from the stressors of living in challenging conditions. Many schools recognize that students have needs that are greater than the capacity to attain academic standards and have chosen to use community schools as a strategy to address the needs of their students.

There are an estimated 5,000 community schools that were established across the United States as a school reform strategy (McDaniels, 2018). Lower grade retention and lowered dropout rates have been observed in schools that have effectively implemented the community school model (Anderson Moore & Emig, 2014). Anderson Moore and Emig see providing integrated community supports as a strategy for closing the student achievement gap that exists for many low-income minority students. They first conduct a needs assessment, then coordinate supports and secure community partners, integrate student supports into the school program, and use data to monitor the effectiveness of their efforts (Anderson Moore & Emig, 2014). Anderson Moore and Emig summarized the comprehensive Child Trends examination of integrated student supports that promote academic growth by targeting barriers to that growth. They found that as the community schools provided integrated supports, such as afterschool academic supports, connections to community role models, and healthcare, increases in student attendance academic achievement were seen. Farbman and National Center on Time and Learning (2015) reported that additional time in meaningful learning opportunities outside of the school day can help to

level the academic playing field between low-income students who often start school at a disadvantage and their more affluent counterparts. Additional time and individualized support are needed in order to help students to make rich connections to their learning. Expanding the day to provide enriched academic programs enabled the educators to close the opportunity gaps that some students face (Farbman & National Center, 2015).

In the United States, there are four commonalities in community schools identified by the National Education Policy Center. The first are integrated services, which are wraparound supports that provide services such as medical, dental, housing, childcare, academic support, healthy meals, adult education classes, and housing. The second are intentional strategies designed to engage the families and communities in decision-making for their school. The third allows for students to have opportunities to learn beyond the typical school day, whether it is skill reinforcement for their current classes or enrichment activities designed to capture student interest in various fields. The fourth and final commonality is leadership practices that connect the needs of the children in a school to district and government agencies in a position to ameliorate the needs faced by the children in the school. Much of the research on the effectiveness of community schools provides inconclusive qualitative results on the perceptions of those in the schools, as well as rating the schools' structure and implementation of the community school model. (Oakes et al., 2017)

Research conducted by the Coalition for Community Schools (2020) provided insights into the components of an effective community school, with the premise that if the following components were implemented with fidelity, then positive student achievement results would follow. The components outlined include having an engaging curricula; providing high quality teaching, which is achieved through ongoing professional development; implementing

appropriate wrap-around services for the community such as health care and aftercare; utilizing positive discipline as opposed to harsh punishments such as suspensions; authentically engaging parents and community members in some of the school-based decisions; and maintaining school leaders that are committed to the inclusiveness of the community school model (Coalition for Community Schools, 2020).

Community schools as a reform model have been studied in order to determine the effects of the community school model on components of achievement such as academic performance on standardized assessments and attendance rates. Noguera (2012) held that regardless of the effectiveness of a school as measured by student academic achievement, the school itself remains the strongest beacon of hope for families and for the well-being of the community as a whole. Studies of the impact of community schools on attendance rates have produced similar inconclusive results, with Sheldon finding that in the 39 schools in their study, the effect of community partnerships on attendance were present, although they were not large (Sheldon, 2007). Understanding precisely why some community school programs are successful, as well as why some have not been successful involves digging deeply into what it takes to be a learner in challenging environments. Bryk (2010) contended that a lack of deep understanding of this lead school reform strategies to continue to draw inconclusive results. It would be difficult to find research that states that there is no need to reduce the burden of societal problems from the shoulders of our youth. It is assumed that doing so will enable the students to flourish academically and have an equal opportunity at growing into capable and productive citizens. However, the research available is far from consistent in its production of quantifiable evidence that community schools are or are not effective school reform models. Alarm over the lack of understanding of which components of student achievement could best be supported through

community schools, minimal empirical research on the effectiveness of community schools has led some researchers to question why such a large number of community schools continue to be developed. As more spending on community schools is underway, the call for research to move beyond the point of being advisory, at best, or propaganda at the worst (Raffo & Dyson, 2007).

Community school supporters hold that one must consider ways in which schools and families have common ground in their goal for the growth and well-being of children. In her research, Epstein expressed that families and schools should cooperate in achieving their roles in relation to the growth of children; responsibilities should be shared and performed collectively. Viewing the students as children, and not just learners, will make partnerships among the community, school, and families in promoting children education and advancements more likely (Epstein, 2010). Separation between the roles of the school, community, and family came about through earlier research, which suggested that each entity had a distinct and unique role in developing children into productive citizens. Researchers stated that the family was responsible for nurturing, while the school primarily functioned as a social system, designed to develop the sense of citizenship needed to grow into a contributing member of society (Parsons, 1985). The school-as-a-socializing-agent perspective of how children grow and develop was later eclipsed by research that suggested that the influence of the school, family, and community were not separate and linear, but rather, they are related and at times simultaneous in their impact on the development of a child during the different stages of their life (Young & Marx, 1992).

The convergence of the mutual interests of the community, school, and family is predicated on there being the common goal of developing successful children. The community school design provides the vehicle for reaching this goal. Arne Duncan, the former Secretary of Education in the United States, in his strong support of community schools claimed that, when

schools qualify to be community centers, possess expert teachers, have high quality services, and able partners, then students in those schools will be able to fight poverty, succeed in studies, eliminate violence, enhance productivity, and solve other concerns in the society (Duncan, 2010). Community schools are sometimes referred to as full-service community schools because they are designed to offer adequate physical, mental, social, and academic services that will satisfy the needs of the community, family, and student (Momeni, 2015).

Communities in Schools (2016) reported that 10 factors that greatly impact student success and school climate are:

1. Hunger. Hunger makes students lose concentration in studies, co-curriculum events, and hence may have no future goals.

2. Poor vision. Accomplishing schoolwork may be difficult if students have poor vision since students may not see and understand what is taught in class.

3. Inadequate clothing. Essential items such as clothes may not be afforded by some students.

4. Unreliable housing. Students may fail to go to school because they lack proper residential places.

5. Unsafe transportation. If students lack a reliable mode of transportation or are forced to walk to school via dangerous localities, then they will not go to school.

6. Insufficient school provisions. Some resources such as backpacks may not be purchased by most students.

7. Preoccupied being the breadwinner. Students' attendance to schools may be affected by situations such as sickness of their guardians whereby they may be required to take care of them.

8. Poorly adjusted socially. Bullying can be subjected to children who are associated with issues of physical appearance or personal identity hence affecting their morale in education.

9. Low parental support. Children may not acquire enough emotional assistance if their parents die or are not near hence they may fail in school.

10. Poor health. Health problems linked with chronic illness may hinder the attendance and concentration of students.

Community schools are designed to directly combat those factors that negatively impact student achievement and school climate. As unique as the communities that support them, each community school is structured to address the expressed community need with research-based practices, collaboration, and shared decision-making. Kania and Kramer (2011) outlined structural requirements for effective community schools, which encourage consideration for the connection between organization and the steps needed to achieve common objectives. They defined community school success as meeting conditions that create alignment and influence the acquisition of reliable results in community schools, such as: shared agenda, specific measurement structures, activities that are closely reinforcing, communication that is endless, and strong support institutions (Kania & Kramer, 2011). In the next three sections, this study will examine the empirical data of community schools in Chicago, New York, and Hartford. Such an examination will help to illuminate the efforts of the Baltimore City community schools in this study.

Community Schools in Large Urban Districts

This section will describe community schools in the following four school districts: Chicago, New York City, Hartford, and Baltimore City. With greater than 20,000 students, each is considered an urban school district. These urban districts have all chosen to implement the community school model in some of their public schools.

Community Schools in Chicago, Illinois

In 2002, the Chicago Public Schools district began to transform 67 of its schools into fullservice community schools. By 2015, there were 200 elementary, middle, and high schools that served as community schools in Chicago. In 2018, \$10M was allocated to improve community school structure (Holme et al., 2020). Schools in Chicago are now an anchor for the community, as opposed to an island unto itself for 6 hours of the day. Arne Duncan, the district's chief executive officer, explained that by

teaming up with community-based organizations, Chicago's community schools are now staying open seven days a week until 8 p.m. or later, providing more opportunities for students and families to use computers for continuing education, gain access to counseling services, and share recreational facilities. (as cited in Gehring, 2005, p. 12)

In Chicago, the community school approach first begins with a visionary school leader who is skilled in the ability to collaborate with not only their faculty but also the families and partners within the community. Deputy Chief of Education for Chicago Public Schools, Carlos M. Azcoitia (2002), explained that most schools also employ a community resource coordinator to ensure that the delivery of the program is occurring as desired. The coordinator serves as a liaison between the community, school, and partners. Chicago has focused on recruiting high quality teachers and investing in them as a way of benefiting the students. Teachers who feel welcome and appreciated in the community will be more motivated to do things that will positively affect it. Englert and Temple University (1993) pointed to Chicago's disparity in being able to keep teachers and the importance of maintaining their staff. The high crime rate in Chicago points to the even stronger need for community school development (Cook & Hirschfield, 2008, p. 62).

To study the impact of community school structures on student reading achievement, math achievement, and attendance, Figlio (2015) compared these variables for students from one of Chicago's 47 community schools to the trends of students in Chicago Public Schools who were not attending a community school. Prior to attending a community school, student reading proficiency for those in the experimental community school group was 0.2 percentage points lower than that of their counterparts in school year 2010-2011. Math proficiency in 2010–2018 was 1.8 percentage points lower for those who would be attending a community school within the next 2 years than that of their counterparts. After attending a community school for 1 year, in 2012-2013, the students had 4.4 percentage points higher reading proficiency scores and 302 percentage points higher math proficiency scores. A measurement of attendance found that after 2012-2013, student attendance rate was 3.0 percentage points higher for the students in the community school. However, by 2013-2014, the effect of attending the community school on student attendance was no longer statistically significant (Figlio, 2015).

Community Schools in New York, New York

In 2014, Mayor Bill de Blasio of New York City announced his continued support of community schools (City of New York, 2014), stating that by 2017, he planned to have all public schools in a phase of community school development. In 2014, there were 128 community

schools in development in New York City. This commitment to building the capacity of educators and school administrators for community school partnership makes New York City a leader in the growing field of community school development.

While each school is unique to the community it serves, there are commonalities across all community schools in New York City. Authors Johnson and Williams (2015) contended that much of what students learn from teachers are beyond academic and stretch to the social realm, such as how to work with others and exist in a community. Consideration of factors such as these may be what led the educational leaders in New York City to not only include academic performance as a community school accountability measure but also factors such as attendance, connectedness to adults and classmates, improved school culture and climate, and active family engagement (Office of the Mayor et al., 2014).

During a span of 3 years, Johnston et al. (2020) reported that New York City's community schools boasted a 4.9% higher graduation rate than surrounding schools. The rate of absence also followed the same positive trend, with 7.3% fewer students absent in community schools than other schools in the area. The assessment points to New York's use of varying learning strategies as one of its strongest components; when children learn about nonacademic subjects when inside school, they are exposed to a variety of different materials and can learn life skills, which they might not otherwise encounter. The community school initiative saw a statistically significant decrease in chronic absenteeism for students, with elementary students showing a 7.4 percentage point decrease, and middle school students showing an 8.3 percentage point decrease. High school students who are graduating on time increased by an average of 4.9 percentage points from 2016–2018 for students attending community schools. Grade 6 students in community schools showed an increase in math achievement of a tenth of a standard deviation

in 2018. There was no significant effect on reading scores for these students. Finally, regarding the impact of community school initiatives on school climate, there was inconsistent and limited evidence of an effect. For example, during the 3-year study, the parent engagement measures comparing community schools and other public schools in New York City found no statistical significance (Johnston et al., 2020).

Community Schools in Hartford, Connecticut

The Hartford Public School system comprises 49 schools. Hartford Public Schools wrote that the purpose of the community school is to find a match between community partners that can ameliorate the targeted needs and schools that have identified those specific needs. Services provided include mental health, extracurricular tutoring, adult education, and structures to facilitate relationship building and collaborative decision making between the school and the parents. The anticipated benefit of having community school resources is the increased attendance rate for the students in the community schools, as well as higher academic achievement. While the district's strategic plan noted that they plan to have all of their schools made into community schools, presently the number of community schools in Hartford stands at seven (McDaniels, 2018).

Student achievement in the Hartford Community Schools was measured in the percentage of students scoring proficient in reading or math on the Connecticut Mastery Test (CMT). Twoyear CMT performance data from 2009–2011 were examined. Community school students scoring proficient in math increased from 59 percentage points to 62 percentage points. The proficiency percentage points in reading increased from 44 percentage points to 52 (OMG Center for Collaborative Learning, 2011).

Hartford Public Schools may provide examples for researchers of the need to match the most appropriate community partners with the needs of the students and the community from which they come. Test scores for students who received English language supports after school rose by 8.4 points for reading and 13.3 percentage points for math. Of the sites that identified students for behavioral interventions, only one school provided families and students with mental health supports. At that school, the number of suspensions decreased. In the other community schools in Hartford with students identified as having behavioral needs, the number of suspensions increased (Collins et al., 2017). Factors such as changing leadership, merging schools, and school choice that is open to families across the state may impact data trends for Hartford Public Schools and their community school initiative (Maier et al., 2017).

Community Schools in Baltimore, Maryland

Baltimore City has a history of marginalizing African American families. Many residents of Baltimore City were victims of historic discriminatory housing practices, which led to geographic isolation and extreme segregation. The U.S. Housing and Urban Development (HUD) was sued in 1995 by the American Civil Liberties Union, claiming that the residents were discriminated on based on their race. It was argued that since 1954, the Black residents of Baltimore City were forced to reside in the most segregated and impoverished areas of the city (Pappoe, 2016). In 1995, the courts approved a settlement meant to ameliorate the almost 100 years of forced segregation in Baltimore by providing programs to aid families in relocating to areas with more promising schools and job opportunities (Pappoe, 2016). The relocation effort was known as the Moving to Opportunity. Between 1994 and 1997, a number of families were relocated to low-poverty areas. When those families were studied in 2002, there was found to be little correlation between living in a low-poverty area and joblessness, possibly due to the limited

public transportation and a lack of community connections between the relocated families with the members of their new communities, creating a disconnect between the word-of-mouth employment references that were shared more readily in the high-poverty neighborhoods (Turney et al., 2006). In 2008, the Mayor and the City Council of Baltimore alleged that Wells Fargo Bank and its affiliates targeted Baltimore's African American communities with risky loans that they were unable to afford, leasing to foreclosures on homes and a housing crisis that was found to be in violation of the Fair Housing Act. The community was divided into areas in which the bank would refuse to give loans and those areas where the only loans available were financially abusive (Brescia, 2009.) This practice left many communities in Baltimore City fractured and devoid of reliable community-based resources.

Youth in Baltimore City are being raised in unhealthy communities that are fragmented, lacking leadership, and without mentors that are capable of providing guidance. This fragmentation is found to be the result of police violence in the community (Gama, 2016). Police officers who are being trained in military combat styles of policing are not necessarily adept at building community relations themselves. In the African American community, the number of deaths has decreased by more than half between 1974 and 2014, yet the police militarization has steadily increased ultimately creating a health concern to the youth who are living in these stressful environments (Gomez, 2016). To add to the health concerns created by living in a chronically stressful environment, the city of Baltimore received an F rating in the majority of mortality markers such as cardiovascular, cancer, stroke, diabetes, HIV/AIDS, homicide, and infant mortality, with the most glaring disparities existing between the communities of African Americans where poverty, unemployment, and lower education levels were clustered (Barbot, 2014).

The Baltimore City Public School System (BCPSS) educates close to 84,000 students in its 191 schools and alternative programs, making it the fourth largest school district in the state of Maryland. BCPSS students perform below the state average in both reading and math. The student population is 86.6% Black, 7.8% White, 3.9% Hispanic, and 1.1% Other. The percentage of students who qualify for free and reduced-price meals is 83.5%. Students who speak English as a second language comprise 3.2% of the population. An estimated 34% of the students in BCPSS never receive a high school diploma (Alonso et al., 2011).

Using data from 2013-2014, niche.com (2016) created a ranking for school districts in Maryland weighting most heavily for academic performance on state tests (50%) but also including, to a much lesser degree, factors such as health and safety, parent and student surveys, school culture, grades that parents and students give teachers, facilities, extracurricular activities, and overall health and fitness of students. According to the niche.com (2016) ranking, the Baltimore City school district is ranked number 24 out of 24 compared to the other jurisdictions in the state of Maryland.

In 2016, Baltimore City was ranked number one in Maryland for the number of children living below the poverty line, 33.3%. Baltimore City parents spend 29.7 % of their income on childcare. Almost half (47.0%) of the families living below the federal poverty line also have children that receive temporary cash assistance. The Food Supplement Program, which was formerly known as Food Stamps, provides support to 31.6% of Baltimore City's population, while 86.3% of the school age children are eligible for free and reduced-price meals (Maryland Alliance for the Poor, 2018).

Similar to the City of Philadelphia, Baltimore City implemented community schools as a strategy to combat the low student achievement trends as evidenced by poor attendance, high

drop-out rates, and a sense that the schools are both emotionally and physically unsafe. To address this growing concern, a partnership was formed in 2012 between the Office of the Mayor, BCPSS, and the Family League of Baltimore City, Inc., a 501(c)(3) company. This partnership led to the joint decision to launch the Community & School Engagement Strategy. The Community & School Engagement Strategy Steering Committee structured the framework for the transformation of select public schools into community schools (Durham et al., 2017).

During the school year 2014-2015, there were 42 established community schools in Baltimore City, all of which were facilitated and managed by the Family League of Baltimore. Chronic absenteeism and performance on state assessments are two areas of measurement used to determine early indicators of the effectiveness of community schools as a school reform model. In their report for the Baltimore Education Research Consortium (BERC), Durham and Connolly found that students in Grade 6 through Grade 8, who participated in the extended day programs at their community schools, were 77% less likely to be chronically absent as agemates who did not participate in an extended day program. Nineteen percent of the students in kindergarten to Grade 5 who participated in extended day programs in their community school were chronically absent, which is lower than the 24% of their chronically absent agemates who did not participate in a community school program. There was no evidence of performance differences on the Partnership for Assessment of Readiness for College and Careers (PARCC) state assessment (Durham & Connolly, 2017). The BERC study provided insights into the impact of the Baltimore City community schools initiative on student achievement and attendance for students from 2012–2014. The current study of Baltimore City students in 2017 will extend what was captured by BERC by measuring the impact of the community school's initiative to include not only student achievement and attendance but also factors that impact school climate such as

suspensions, the perceived sense of physical security, the perceived sense of belonging, and the perception of respectful relationships within the schools.

In Baltimore City, services that can be seen in community schools may include on-site food pantries, General Education Development (GED) training for any adults in the community, provision of school uniforms if needed, mental health services, teachers trained to deliver mental health support, volunteers to reduce the student-to-adult ratio in some classes, after-school tutoring, and parent engagement activities (Olson, 2014). In 2014 the United States Department of Education (Reform Support Network, 2014) Office of Innovation and Improvement awarded nine community school partners from BCPSS grants totaling almost \$20 million. The Maryland State Department of Education (MSDE) reported that from 2010–2013, the overall graduation rate for BCPSS rose from 61.5 to 68.5%. During that same time period, the high school dropout rate was cut nearly in half to 12.1% (Office of Innovation & Improvement, 2014). School climate, family and community engagement, attendance, and suspensions were monitored between 2010 and 2013 in order to determine if there were changes or significant differences between some Baltimore City community schools and some of the non-community schools. The Baltimore Education Research Consortium (BERC) found statistically significant increases in the area of family and community engagement for community schools with an increase from 13.9% to 27.6% for community schools and from 11.9% to 20.1% in non-community schools based solely on the parent survey response rates at the schools (Olson, 2014). There was no significant difference between the attendance and absenteeism rates for community schools and noncommunity schools, with attendance rates for community schools being 89.9% while that of noncommunity schools was 88.5%, and chronic absenteeism for community schools was 27.7% while that of the non-community schools was 28.3% (Olson, 2014). No statistical difference was

found between the 9.5% suspension rates of community schools in 2014 and the 8.4% suspension rate of non-community schools (Olson, 2014). Olson went on to describe that of the 37 community schools studied, those that were older community schools scored slightly higher than newer community schools and noted this as a possible indicator that community schools will outperform non-community schools over an extended period of time of greater than 5 years.

The progress of eight community school programs from across the nation were reviewed by the Coalition for Community Schools (Frankl, 2016). Among them, two Baltimore City community schools were highlighted in this group: the Wolfe Street Academy and The Historic Samuel Coleridge Taylor Elementary School. Changes between 2010 and 2015 for the Wolfe Street Academy included reductions in chronic absenteeism from 10% to 1.5% and student mobility from 46.6% to 8.8%, while increases were seen in student performance, raising Wolfe Street Academy's ranking from 77th in the city to 2nd in the city; student attendance in afterschool programming rose from 50% to 84%; fifth grade reading proficiency rose from 50% to 95%, and daily attendance rose from 94% to 97% (Frankl, 2016). Supports provided to the families of Wolfe Street Academy include providing breakfast, lunch, and dinner to the students; medical and dental care; and therapeutic support as needed. These supports have been found to be critical to this community with a number of new immigrants leading to 66% of the student population being English language learners, and 96% of the students qualifying for FARMS (Frankl, 2016).

The neighborhood of the Historic Samuel Coleridge Taylor Elementary School contains a more concentrated level of poverty than the rest of Baltimore City with 58% considered to be living in poverty, as compared to the 28% poverty rate averaged across the city. School progress between 2011 and 2015 was documented. Chronic absenteeism decreased from 25% to 10.7%.

Student academic performance and suspension rates were not documented in the report. Social work services, home visits, and trauma-informed staff were supports implemented in the school (Frankl, 2016).

In 2017, the Baltimore Education Research Consortium set out to identify the characteristics of an effective community school. Data from school year 2015-2016 was compiled. Seven of the 45 community schools were selected for study. Interviews of each school's community school coordinator were used to produce a description of the characteristics of an effective community school. The community schools shared goals such as the ability to imbed health and therapeutic supports for families, academic support, and engaging afterschool programs. The community school coordinators noted that their schools service students with special needs, living in poverty, or are English language learners to a greater degree than noncommunity schools. Students eligible for free and reduced-price meals (FARMS) in community schools were 80.5% compared to 72.5% in non-community schools, special education children comprised 16.8% compared to 15.8%, and English language learners were 6.8% in community schools compared to 2.5% in non-community schools (Durham et al., 2017). The community school coordinators also indicated that an effective practice of theirs was to continuously assess the value of the community partners in order to determine if there were opportunities to use these services to support the staff and academic arena during the school day as well as the after-hour support that is available to the families (Durham & Connolly, 2017).

School Climate

Educational researchers have sought to determine if schools can put structures into place to create a sense of community in schools, thereby creating a positive school climate. Safe, respectful, and trusting relationships between students and teachers, teachers and administrators, teachers and families, and school staff and the community are common characteristics of school climate (Payne, 2018). The five influencers of school climate are the school's organizational leadership, relationships with school staff, respectful relationships with students, family values, and how the members of the outside community treat its youth (Community Matters, 2014). It is advised that those seeking to improve school climate consider one or more of the following strategies: increasing student achievement, maintaining respectful staff and student relationships, having a staff dedicated to the students, demonstrating positive student behavior, and increasing the student sense of belonging (National Center on Safe Supporting Learning Environments, 2020). Whether declining or booming, the characteristics of a neighborhood themselves do not sway student, staff, and parent perceptions of a school to the same extent that authentic relationships would impact perceptions of school climate (Grice et al., 2012).

The National School Climate Center (NSCC, 2020) explored the multifaceted nature of school climate. The NSCC has identified 13 dimensions that create a description of school climate. The 13 dimensions are further grouped into six categories. The first category is Safety. Dimensions of Safety include having established rules and norms, as well as feeling physically and emotionally safe in the learning environment. The second category is Teaching and Learning. Dimensions of Teaching and Learning include providing quality instruction to students in an environment that encourages engagement, as well as instruction that infuses strategies to reinforce students' social–emotional well-being. The third category is that of Interpersonal

Relationships. Dimensions of Interpersonal Relationships describe respectful relationships between students and between students and adults, in an arena that is supportive of individual differences. The fourth category is Institutional Environment. The dimensions of Institutional Environment have to do with the overall appearance and upkeep of the facility. The fifth category is social media, with the descriptive dimension speaking to ethical online behavior of students. The sixth and final NSCC school climate category is Staff Only. The dimensions of Staff Only describe the competency of the leadership and the relationships amongst the staff members (NSCC, 2020).

The Baltimore City Public School district utilized the research of NSCC to define school climate for themselves. The first three NSCC categories, Safety, Teaching and Learning, and Interpersonal Relationships, inform the three Baltimore City indices, physical security, school connectedness, and respectful relationships. The school year 2016-1017 was the final year in which Baltimore City surveyed their parents, staff, and students in order to define the climate of each school (Baltimore City Public Schools, 2020c).

Recognizing the potential positive impact of connecting students to the greater community, the National School Climate Center partnered with a high school in Connecticut. The research team received survey responses from 127 community members and 20 community agencies in order to determine the perceptions of community members towards school community partnerships. Efforts are structured around the third NSCC category, Interpersonal Relationships. The coordinator and students attended meetings for organizations within the community and made connections with many who had strong ties to the community. After surveying members of the community about their perspectives on the school, a calendar of events was devised in order to connect students and community members in an on-going basis.

This project was found successful in that it strengthened school and community relationships (Ice & Cohen, 2015).

The premise of community schools is that they are hubs of supports and wraparound services that positively impact students, their families, and the communities in which they reside. For decades, researchers have been studying to what degree school programs can impact the environment within the school. Battistich and Hom (1997) sought to determine insights into NSCC interpersonal relationships by explaining the relationship between encouraging an increased sense of belonging for students and the presence of negative behaviors. The sample size was 1434 students in the fifth and sixth grades from 24 schools in six school districts located across the United States. Three schools were located on the West Coast, one was in a southern state, one school was in the Northeast, and one school was in the Southeast. Two schools from each district employed a strategy designed to enhance a sense of student connectedness to the school. The other two schools from each district were used as a comparison groups in order to gauge the impact of the intervention. Researchers set out to determine if there was a relationship between the students' sense of community within their school and the problem behaviors of victimization, delinquency, and drug usage. The sense of community score on the school level had a reliability of .92 (Battistich & Hom, 1997). Using hierarchal regression analyses with a p value < .001, significant relationships -.137, -.183, and -.160 were reported between a student's sense of community and the negative behaviors of drug use, delinquency, and victimization, respectively, with increases in the student sense of community causing decreases in negative behaviors (Battistich & Hom, 1997).

In 2012, 60% of adults reported experiencing some sort of trauma when they were children (National Center for Mental Health Promotion and Youth Violence Prevention, 2012).

Childhood trauma, sometimes referred to as adverse childhood experience (ACE) includes violence, abuse, having caregivers with mental health concerns, and neglect. There is a strong graded relationship between adverse childhood experiences and adults with disabilities (Rose et al., 2014). A strategy for impacting school climate is NSCC Category 2, providing socialemotional instruction. Researchers sought to intervene in the potentially harmful effects of childhood trauma at two community schools in New York City (Baez et al., 2019). Initial screenings found that 77% of the students experienced at least one trauma in their lifetime. In their mixed-methods intervention explanatory sequential design, the Wediko partnership provided tiered trauma-informed social-emotional learning supports to the 500 students, based on the insights gained from the initial screenings. Changes in student social skills and problem behaviors were measured at the conclusion of the experiment. Between 2015 and 2017, the researchers found that the social skills of students with low or moderate trauma indices increased, while that of those with high trauma indices decreased. Implications from the study (Baez et al., 2019) suggest the need for the ongoing targeted social-emotional instruction offered by community schools with student populations having large percentages of adverse childhood experiences as an intervention for unhealthy habits that ultimately impact school climate.

Student Attendance

Consistent attendance is seen as an instructional tool without which student achievement is significantly hampered. Because of this, educational researchers have devoted studies to determine the factors that impact student attendance and ways to ameliorate chronic absenteeism. Baltimore City Public Schools calculates attendance by dividing the total number of days attended by the total number of days enrolled during the school year, and students with chronic absenteeism have been absent for 10% or more of their expected school days (Baltimore City

Public Schools, 2020a). Attendance in elementary school ensures that the citizenry of a country is literate and can perform as responsible members of democracy, while chronic absenteeism and dropout rates in high school have a strong correlation with criminal activity, poor health, and dependency on social services to meet the basic needs of a family (Ekstrand, 2015). In 2018, the Baltimore City Public School district was ranked 24th out of the 24 school districts in Maryland with a holding power of 58%, which represents the percent of students who graduate from high school on time within 4 years (MSDE-DAAIT, 2019). Factors that lead to chronic absenteeism may include adverse childhood experiences, student disabilities, and maladaptive social and behavioral abilities (Elliott & Place, 2019; Stempel et al., 2017). Educational leaders seeking to positively impact student attendance must not get sidetracked by perceived societal failings and implement sometimes complex targeted strategies to address the root cause of absenteeism for diverse populations of students (Kearney, 2016). Once the causes of community factors that influence student attendance have been identified, researchers recommend providing professional development to staff members on various strategies to target specific factors, providing support for childcare providers, and building relationships between staff and students that incorporates check-ins with the students and incentives for satisfactory school attendance (Freeman et al., 2018).

Six out of 16 schools in the Redwood City school district in Northern California are community schools. In Redwood City, almost three quarters of the students are Latinos, and 46% are English language learners (Biag & Castrechini, 2016). The integrated supports provided by the community schools in Redwood City are designed address three key areas: support for families through engagement opportunities and adult education related to community needs, outof-school-time academic enrichment opportunities and childcare for students, and social support

services such as food assistance and mental health services. A descriptive case study of the Redwood City's six community schools involved a review of student academic records as well as program data from the community school partners to measure student attendance and identify any relationships between student attendance and program participation. A longitudinal growth model was used to determine the relationship between the three key focus areas of Redwood City's six community schools and student attendance. The results found that students who participated in the out-of-school-time activities or whose families participated in the engagement and support opportunities had better attendance. Students whose families received social support services demonstrated a negative attendance rate. It is hypothesized that families in need of social services have a myriad of needs that may impact overall student attendance and achievement (Biag & Castrechini, 2016).

Partnerships between schools, families, and the community have a significant impact on rates of attendance and chronic absenteeism, as determined by a longitudinal study of data from 39 schools across the country, from 1999–2001 (Sheldon & Epstein, 2004). The sample size for this study included 29 elementary and 10 secondary schools from large urban, small urban, suburban, and rural schools from across the country, serving students of diverse socioeconomic and cultural backgrounds. In these schools 10 activities designed to address parent practices, communication practices, volunteerism, and community collaboration were implemented. Four additional activities provided incentive-based programs directly to students who demonstrated improved or satisfactory attendance rates. Sheldon and Epstein (2004) used a descriptive analysis to compare the relationship between absenteeism and the demographics of a school and the types of community partners that support the school. They also used regression analyses to determine if there was a correlation between absenteeism and the different types of family and community

programs offered in the schools. Ordinary least squares regression analyses were conducted in order to estimate how the implementation of school community partnerships impact chronic absenteeism. On average, chronic absenteeism decreased 0.5% in the 39 schools by the second year of the study (Sheldon & Epstein, 2004). However, it should be noted that these data include schools who have had decreases in absenteeism of 6% as well as those who have seen increases of 7%. Chronic absenteeism was a greater issue for secondary schools and large urban schools and is highly correlated to the schools' poverty levels. Sheldon and Epstein (2004) learned that a family's prior patterns of chronic absenteeism were found to be the strongest predictor of continued absenteeism. As schools are capable of organizing structures that positively impact student attendance, Sheldon and Epstein (2004) noted that in order for community school interventions to be successful, additional professional development about the nature of the partnerships and the root causes of absenteeism for specific schools is needed.

For public schools, attendance is the one data point that is mandated by state governance. Every state in the United States of America has a compulsory attendance law for school-age children. These laws vary only slightly from state to state. The legal guardians of truant children can be taken to court by their child's public school district, where they may receive fines or even spend time in jail due to allowing their child to become chronically absent from school. However, blindly punishing parents creates disproportionate hardships for the neediest families in our society and does little to address the complex scenarios faced by a diverse society (Reyes, 2020). Understanding chronic absenteeism, truancy, and ultimately school dropout is a precursor to implementing interventions. In addition to expected factors such as illness and bereavement, other reasons that students are absent from school include religious observations, family vacations, students feeling disconnected or unwelcomed at the school, and pressing family needs (Hintz, Kapp, & Snapp, 2003). The impact of absenteeism is felt regardless of race. Whether Black or White, students who are among the highest achieving have strong attendance, and those who are among the lowest achieving have poor attendance (Parke & Kanyongo, 2012). Three strategies to impact student attendance include designing on-going efforts to build the capacity of all school stakeholders, specifically designed supports based on the identified needs of a school, and meaningful collaborations between school stakeholders (Davis et al., 2019; Kim et al., 2018). With attendance being an early indicator of not only potential achievement impediments but also of family and community needs, it is a meaningful datapoint in measuring overall school program effectiveness.

Student Achievement

Student achievement for the purpose of this study is measured by student performance on standardized state assessments. In this section, the efforts of researchers to study student achievement in community schools, and factors that may impact student achievement, are discussed.

Student achievement in community schools in Northern California's Bay Area was studied by Momeni (2015) in order to determine if there was a difference in the academic achievement as measured by student grade point averages for students in the community school performed over the course of 3 years. When comparing student achievement for each year, the result of the paired sample *t* test of all students at the two schools studied revealed that student achievement decreased from the first to the second year but improved again the third year. Variables impacting the changes in student achievement were the increased rigor of coursework in the second year, as well as shifts in community school implementation strategies (Momeni, 2015).

Crawford (2011) studied community schools that utilized afterschool programs to positively impact student achievement in reading and math. A meta-analysis was used to investigate the reading and math outcomes for students in grades kindergarten to eight from 2000–2009. Crawford (2011) found that in all time periods, 2000–2002, 2003–2005, and 2006– 2009, there were educationally significant results indicating a positive relationship between attending afterschool educational programs provided by the community schools and overall student achievement in reading and math.

A longitudinal panel dataset of 10 million students in Texas was used to identify the impact of the community and school quality on the academic achievement of students in grades five through eight in school year 1999-2000 (Jargowsky et al., 2009). Student achievement was measured based on the reading and math state assessment outcomes on the Texas Assessment of Academic Skills (TAAS). Census data were utilized by Jargowsky et al. (2009) to give insight into neighborhood characteristics. The school context was determined by recording the percentage of students who qualify for free and reduced-price meals, looking at student scores on the TAAS from 1998, and the teacher attrition rate for each school. The findings of the study suggested that the perspectives of neighborhoods, particularly those with more highly educated members, towards education has a positive impact on student achievement, more so than funding and styles of parenting. The effects of having successful schools are higher for disadvantaged students, whereas the impact of families with married couples and college graduates is more significant for students who are not living in poverty (Jargowsky et al., 2009).

Henderson et al. (2002) set out to study the impact of family and community support on the academic achievement of students. To accomplish this, a systematic review of 51 studies, recorded between 1995 and 2002, was conducted. Data from the studies were used to outline

nine recommendations for strategies that may be employed by community schools to optimize the positive impact that family support can have on student achievement. The research conclusions inform that families can positively impact the academic trajectory of children. Therefore, efforts to improve student achievement should be coupled with strategies to strengthen student supports in the home at every level of education and the development of close home and school connections. Research findings indicate that regardless of the cultural or economic background of families, there is a positive relationship between parental involvement and the academic performance of students (Henderson et al., 2002).

The community school design enables the coordinators, community partners, and staff to design supports that are specific to the identified needs of the students, their families, and their communities. In some communities, there may be food insecurity, in others joblessness, and in yet others the need for guidance in navigating the rungs towards higher academic aspirations, or a combination of many different needs within a community. In the schools in Sought King County, Washington, they are attempting to mitigate the effects of having the fourth largest refugee settlement in the country. Schools in this district have student populations where over 25 percent of the students are new to the country from over 80 different nations. Recognizing the need for robust supports for the students and families, the Tukwila Community Schools Collaboration (TCSC) partnership was forged in 1998. A case study of TCSC (Potapchuk, 2013) looked at strategies to impact student achievement. Strategies implemented in TCSC to positively impact student achievement include academic enrichment programs after school, vertical mentoring between high school students and younger students in the district, parent events presented in multiple languages, parenting resources to support their child's academic progress, and health services. The increased academic success of the students translated into
higher graduation rates with a graduation rate increase from 52.1% in 2004 to 76.3% in 2010. These academic achievements have led TCSC to make the community school partnership part of the framework for future community organizations seeking to partner with the school district (Potapchuk, 2013).

In 2008, six schools in Tulsa, Oklahoma, became community schools. The mission of the community schools, outlined in the Tulsa Area Community School Initiative (TASCI), is to ignite relationships between the schools and the larger communities from which they come, and to provide out of school time learning opportunities. Early student achievement was promising, and a current study (Adams, 2019) was conducted to determine if the students in the community schools achieved at a higher rate than those at non-community schools. Consideration for school demographics was taken into consideration when community schools in Tulsa were compared to non-community schools in the Tulsa area having similar demographic characteristics such as socioeconomic status, race, and students receiving special education services. A retrospective study was used to monitor student achievement, which was measured by noting the percentage of fifth graders scoring proficient in reading and math between 2009 and 2016. Over the course of the 8 years, the reading and math performance of the TASCI schools regressed over time. Researchers attributed the decline to the changes in district and school level leadership, which eroded the emphasis on the TASCI vision that once inspired higher levels of performance (Adams, 2019).

Researchers set out to identify the components of community schools that encourage school reform (Wood & Bauman, 2017). To accomplish this, they reviewed 35 studies on diverse community schools serving students in grades K–12 from across the country. Just as there are a myriad of factors that lead to student achievement, so too are there a diverse set of strategies that

can be implemented to positively impact academic success. General actions found to be effective in various community schools included providing support to address a wide number of family and community concerns, being intentional about encouraging parent participation, and remaining mindful of the uniqueness of the cultures served in the schools. Each action may have multiple strategies attached to reach students, parents, and community members, and this is encouraged. By providing multiple strategies, schools may stand a greater chance of reaching a broad audience. The literature review was unable to explain how parental engagement impacted student achievement, but it was determined that there is a positive correlation between the two (Wood & Bauman, 2017).

Conclusion

The purpose of this review was to provide insights into how community schools are structured in urban school districts and details regarding the student achievement, attendance rate, and/or school climate in the programs studied. It is clear from the research reviewed that the community school concept has a long history that has evolved over the past 100 years to address the needs of a community, and, at times, to combat its ills. Commonalities across community school designs is the partnership with agencies outside of the educational realm, such as healthcare, social services, and family resources to strengthen the families that live in the school's district. The unresolved research question that remains is whether supporting communities through the community school model will have a significant impact on student achievement and overall school climate. Chapter 3 will present the proposed analyses for the research questions that investigate the differences in attendance, suspension rate, school climate, and academic performance of students attending Baltimore City community schools and those attending traditionally structured public schools in Baltimore City.

Chapter 3

Methodology

The purpose of this study was to determine if there is a relationship between a community school management system in Baltimore City public schools, and outcomes such as student attendance, suspension rates, academic achievement, and school climate. Publicly available data from the Baltimore City Public Schools' school profiles were compiled and analyzed. Statistical Package for Social Sciences (SPSS, Version 27) was used to determine descriptive statistics. The community school data were compared to that of the noncommunity school data in order to determine if there are indicators of a relationship between the community school management and academic performance, attendance rate, and suspension rates for 40 community schools and 81 noncommunity schools. The sample size, being greater than 30, and the use of common data measurement tools served to insure research reliability and validity (Gay et al., 2012).

Research Design

This quantitative study used statistical analyses in order to determine if there is a relationship between community school management types and school success. School success was described as student achievement on the PARCC state assessment for students in Grades 3 through 5, student attendance, suspension rates, and school climate. After first describing the student achievement, rates of attendance, suspension numbers, and school climate ratings for Baltimore City community schools and noncommunity schools, inferential statistic tools provided insights into the confidence that can be determined when generalizing the results from each sample. Pyrczak (2010) described generalizing as the process of inferring that what is true

for the sample is also true for the population. In this study, all schools servicing students in Grades 3 through 5 in Baltimore City in 2017, that are not schools for special education students only or alternative placement schools for disciplinary reasons, were included in this study, thereby ensuring that there is a freedom from bias when generalizing the data from the sample.

Research Questions

The overarching question of this research was: Do community school designs impact school success for students in Grades 3 through 5 in Baltimore City Schools? This study was guided by the following questions:

Research Question 1: What is the difference in academic achievement of community schools and noncommunity schools in 2016 and 2017?

Research Question 2: What is the difference in the attendance rates of community schools and noncommunity schools in 2016 and 2017?

Research Question 3: What is the difference in the suspension rate of Baltimore City community schools and noncommunity schools in 2016 and 2017?

Research Question 4: What is the relationship between school climate indices (physical security, respectful relationships, school connectedness) and the community school management type in Baltimore City Schools in 2016 and 2017?

Data Sources

For this study, the participants were the 2017 schools in Baltimore City Public Schools that meet the study criteria. Data from school year 2016-2017 were analyzed because this is the final school year in which the district surveyed parents and caregivers. Epstein and Salinas (2004) described the impact of parents on the development of children. When measuring school climate for Baltimore City Public Schools, the insights provided by the parents and caregivers is valuable. The study criteria include all Baltimore City elementary public schools in 2017, with Grades 3 through 5, that are not an alternative placement setting or school designed to support profound special education needs. Baltimore City Public Schools (City Schools) is a large urban school district in the state of Maryland. In 2016-2017, Baltimore City educated 82,354 students, making it the fifth largest district in the state (MSDE, 2018a). The demographics of the student population shows that 11.7% of students have a disability, 60.2% of the students receive free or reduced-price meals (FARMS), and 6.2% of the students are English language learners (MSDE, 2018a). Baltimore City Public Schools reported that in 2016-2017, 80.5% of their students were African American, 9.4% were Hispanic/Latino, 8% were White, 1% were Asian, 0.2% were American Indian, and 0.2% were Pacific Islander (Baltimore City Schools, 2020f). The sample size is the school level data. The 40 community schools and 81 noncommunity schools in Baltimore City comprised the participants for the study. The participants are composed of schools from the same school district, reporting results for the same grade bands from each of the schools. Therefore, there is limited variability among the participants in the samples. According to Pyrczak (2010), "For populations with very limited variability, even small samples can yield precise results" (p. 97). Because the samples are from all Baltimore City public schools serving students in Grades 3 through 5, there is limited variability in the populations themselves.

Data Collection

This study gathered publicly available data from the Baltimore City Public Schools (City Schools) system. City Schools provides progress data for each of its schools on a school profile document. In addition to student achievement on standardized tests, attendance rates, suspension numbers and climate ratings, the public can also read about each school's demographic information and learn about the experience of the staff. School profiles were gathered for City Schools that educated students in Grades 3 through 5 during the 2016-2017 school year. The data regarding student achievement, attendance, suspensions, and school climate were compared to additional publicly available data from City Schools, such as the 2007-2019_SchoolSurvey-District (BCPS, 2020c), which provides overall school climate responses for City Schools and the SY16-17 School Level_OFFICIAL document (BCPS, 2020d). The latter provides school-specific climate responses including the number of eligible parent, staff, and student respondents who took the climate survey, as well as the dimension scores for each of the questions.

Measures

Attendance

In this study, the attendance rate of each of the 121 schools was examined, determining the overall difference between the attendance rate of community schools to that of noncommunity schools. Students who missed 10% or more of their school days were considered chronically absent. Students who missed fewer than 5 days of school in each of the four marking periods avoided this distinction. The schoolwide attendance dependent variable in this study was a percentage determined by dividing the total number of days the students are enrolled in a school by the total number of days that the students were present.

Suspensions

The expectation of student conduct and recommended disciplinary responses for breaches of the code of conduct is outlined in the Student Code of Conduct. Disciplinary response levels range from one to five in the Student Code of Conduct. Level three and above may result in short-term suspensions, long-term suspensions, or extended suspensions or expulsions (BCPS, 2020e). The suspension dependent variable in this study was the total number of suspensions in a school. It is not a percentage or a calculation of the amount of time lost due to the suspension, nor is it a by student ratio. It is a count of the total number of suspension or expulsion occurrences for each school. Suspension data included all suspensions and expulsions, including multiple incidents for the same student.

Academic Achievement

In 2010, the United States Department of Education granted two consortiums funding to create measures to monitor student readiness for college and career readiness. The two consortiums whose Race to the Top funds were used to conduct statewide assessments for public school students were Smarter Balanced Assessment Consortium and the Partnership for the Assessment of Readiness for College and Careers (PARCC). The state of Maryland chose to measure its students' readiness for college and careers using PARCC (U.S. Department of Education, 2017). For Maryland public schools in 2017, the PARCC test was administered to students in Baltimore City in Grades 3–12 to measure math and English language arts proficiency. The PARCC results are broken down into five performance levels, with Level 4 indicating that the students met performance expectations and Level 5 indicating that the students exceeded expectations. For this study, student achievement was defined as the

percentage of students at each school who met or exceeded performance expectations by scoring a 4 or 5 on the PARCC assessment in the spring of 2017.

School Climate

One of the ways in which Baltimore City Public Schools measures school climate is through the use of the School Survey, a version of which was administered to students, parents, and staff members in the Spring of 2017. Participant responses range from 1 to 4, with 1 representing strongly disagree and 4 representing strongly agree. Students were asked about their overall satisfaction with their school, including questions about relationships with the staff, relationships with one another, and their perceptions of school rules and safety. Parents were asked questions that provided insights into parental perceptions of the academic program at the school and the staff's efforts to make them feel included. Staff queries delved into their perceptions of school leadership and staff relationships Baltimore Educational Research Coalition (BERC, 2014). The results of the survey are compiled and reported on each school's profile page. The climate survey in 2017 was provided to students in Grades 3 through 12, their parents, and the staff of each school. Based on the results, indices for each school's physical security, school connectedness, and respectful relationships are reported. Following this, parents were no longer surveyed by the schools. School climate survey questions were categorized as physical security, respectful relationships, or school connectedness. The district's criteria for reporting data were that each of the three categories must reflect greater than five respondents, and the staff and student groups responding must be comprised of 30% or more of the group population. Questions in the Physical Security section reflect the extent to which physical altercations are not seen as hindrances to learning in the school, staff and students feel physically safe in the building, and parents feel assured that their child is safe while at school. The

Respectful Relationships section reflects not only the adult–child relationship between staff and students but also the extent to which student-to-student interactions are healthy and respectful. The final school climate category, school connectedness, reflects the sense of belonging that students and staff feel in their school, as well as parents feeling as if they are heard when they bring concerns to the school and are welcomed in the school environment.

Data Analysis

The software program used to analyze and code the data gathered was the Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS, Version 27). Student attendance, suspension rates, academic achievement data, and school climate measures were investigated. Inferential statistical analyses were used to test the null hypothesis at the 0.05 level of significance. Table 1 summarizes the research questions, hypotheses, statistical analyses used, and the variables in the study.

Table 1

Statistical Analyses

Research Question 1: What is the difference in academic achievement of community schools and					
noncommunity schools in 2016 and 2017?					
Research hypotheses	Statistical analyses	Variables			
 H1: There is a significant relationship between the achievement of students and community school management systems. H₀1: There is no relationship between student achievement and community school management systems. 	Wilcoxon rank sum test	 Math PARCC scores 2016 and 2017 ELA PARCC scores 2016 and 2017 Students proficient on Math PARCC 2016 and 2017 Students proficient on ELA PARCC 2016 and 2017 			
Research Question 2: What is the o	lifference in the attendance	rates of community schools and			
noncommunity schools in 2016 an	d 2017?				
Research hypotheses	Statistical analyses	Variables			
H2: There is a significant difference in the aggregate attendance rate of community school students. H_02 : There is no significant difference in the aggregate attendance rate of community school students.	Independent samples <i>t</i> test	 Student attendance rate 2016 and 2017 Chronic absenteeism rate 2016 and 2017 			
Research Question 3: What is the or schools and noncommunity school	lifference in the suspension s in 2017?	rate of Baltimore City community			
Research hypotheses	Statistical analyses	Variables			
H3: There is a significant difference in the number of students suspended in community schools. H_03 : There is no significant difference in the number of students suspended in community schools.	Wilcoxon rank sum test	 Number of students suspended 2016 and 2017 Number of days out of schools due to suspensions 2016 			

Research Question 4: What is the relationship between school climate indices (physical security, respectful relationships, school connectedness) and the community school management type in Baltimore City Schools in 2017?

Research hypotheses	Statistical analyses	Variables
H4: There is a significant relationship between school climate (physical security, respectful relationships, or school connectedness) and community school management systems. H ₀ 4: There is no relationship between school climate (physical security, respectful relationships, or school connectedness) and community school management systems.	Chi square	 Percentage of respondents in each school indicating high levels (>74) of physical security in their school in 2016 and 2017 Percentage of respondents in each school indicating high levels (>74) of respectful relationships in their school in 2016 and 2017 Percentage of respondents indicating high levels (>74) of respectful relationships in their school in 2016 and 2017 Percentage of respondents indicating high levels (>74) of school connectedness in their school in 2016 and 2017

Limitations of Data Analysis

Although the data are publicly available, it will be difficult to exactly replicate this study for future school years for two key reasons. The first reason is that 2017 was the terminal year for administering the climate survey that had been used for this study. Following 2017, the only stakeholder groups were staff and students. Parents were no longer polled by City Schools or reported on the school profiles. The second reason is that the number of schools in operation fluctuate, with several closing or consolidating, making it impossible to replicate this study using the exact same schools.

Delimitations of Data Analysis

The delimitation of this study is the size of the samples. School data from Grades 6 through 12 were omitted. This omission served to narrow the scope of the study as additional factors are considered when comparing the attendance of a 12th grader to that of a fourth grader, for example. Focusing on the three-through-five grade band provided a clearer insight into any relationships or differences between the variables.

Summary

The purpose of this chapter was to describe the methods for answering the proposed research questions. The research questions, procedures, data collection, and data analyses were used to explain how the study was conducted. A descriptive and then inferential study research design was used to determine any differences or relationships between community schools and academic student achievement, school attendance, suspensions, and school climate in City Schools during the 2016-2017 school year for students in Grades 3 through 5.

Chapter 4

Analysis of the Data

Introduction

The purpose of this study was to determine if there is a significant difference in the data of community schools and noncommunity schools in the Baltimore City Public School System. Attendance rates, standardized state test scores (PARCC) for English and Math, suspension rates, and school climate for 2016 and 2017 were used in this study. The aim of this research is to contribute quantitatively to the body of knowledge surrounding community schools and their usage as a school reform strategy.

Research Design

Preexisting, publicly available data were collected for this study. Descriptive and inferential statistics were calculated using the Statistical Package for Social Sciences (SPSS, Version 27). This study utilized independent samples *t* tests, Wilcoxon rank sum tests, and Pearson's chi-square analyses to compare the academic achievement, suspensions, school attendance, and climates of community schools to noncommunity schools in Baltimore City from 2015–2017. The community school framework and theory of overlapping spheres of influence (Sheldon & Epstein, 2004) suggests that community school efforts to engage families and communities as valuable members of the school should predict student achievement, student attendance suspension, and school climate rates.

Sample Population

Between 2015 and 2017, the number of Baltimore City public schools that were not solely dedicated to special education populations nor an alternative placement facility for disciplinary reasons, was 121. Of this number, 40 schools were community schools, and 81 were noncommunity schools. Schools missing data in any of the four areas of academic achievement, suspensions, attendance, or school climate were excluded from the study. This was the case for two community schools and 12 noncommunity schools, which brought the sample size from 121 to 105.

Research Questions

Research Question 1: Academic Achievement

Research Question 1: What is the difference in academic achievement of community schools and noncommunity schools on the PARCC state assessment for English (ELA) or Math in 2016 and 2017?

Null Hypothesis 1: Schools with a community school management type have no statistically significant difference in academic achievement scores on the PARCC state assessment for ELA or Math in 2016 and 2017.

Third through fifth grade students in Baltimore City underperform academically (see Table 2) when compared to the percentages of students across the state of Maryland on the PARCC state assessment. Despite the low student achievement rates of the district, this study sought to determine if differences could be found between community schools and noncommunity schools when measuring students meeting or exceeding expectations. Students who score a 4 or a 5 on the PARCC assessment have met or exceeded expectations and are

considered proficient. In addition to comparing the overall PARCC performance of noncommunity and community school students, this study also conducted an independent samples *t* test to determine if there was a statistical difference in the number of students scoring proficient at each school.

Table 2

Percentage of Students in Grades 3–5 Meeting or Exceeding Expectations on the PARCC

	Baltimore	Maryland
Math 2016	15%	39%
ELA 2016	13%	39%
Math 2017	16%	39%
ELA 2017	14%	41%

Test for Normality

Data used to assess potential differences between community schools and noncommunity schools compared student performance on the PARCC state assessment for ELA and Math. Mean student assessment scores on the PARCC assessment were gathered for 2016 and 2017 for ELA and Math. After running a Shapiro-Wilk test of normality to compare the performance of community schools and noncommunity schools on the PARCC assessment it was determined that the data for ELA scores in 2016 were not significant, with a *p*-value greater than .05 for community schools (p = .074) and noncommunity schools (p = .057), indicating that the data were normally distributed. Therefore, a *t* test was used to determine if there was a significant difference between community schools and noncommunity schools on the PARCC assessment in 2016 for ELA. The Shapiro-Wilk test of normality found significant mean scores when comparing community and noncommunity schools on the PARCC assessment were significant for Math 2016, Math 2017, and ELA 2017. If the mean score for either noncommunity schools or community schools, or both mean scores, were significant, then a Wilcoxon sum rank test was used. The *p*-values of noncommunity schools were as follows: Math 2016 (p =.01), Math 2017 (p =.01), and for ELA 2017 (p =.08). Community school *p*-values were Math 2016 (p =.90), Math 2017 (p =.18), and for ELA 2017 (p =.08). A test of normality was also used to compare community schools and noncommunity schools on the PARCC assessment of ELA in 2017. Use of the Shapiro-Wilk test of normality, as well as review of the graphs, indicated that the data were not normally distributed. Therefore, a Wilcoxon sum rank test was used to compare the mean scores of community and noncommunity school performance on the PARCC assessment for Math 2016, Math 2017, and ELA 2017.

The number of students scoring proficient on the PARCC assessment was compared for community and noncommunity schools. The Shapiro-Wilk test of normality results were significant for all areas, Math 2016, ELA 2016, Math 2017, and ELA 2017, indicating that the data did not fit the normal distribution. Noncommunity school results for proficient students were Math 2016 (p =.00), ELA 2016 (p =.00), Math 2017 (p = 0.00), and ELA 2017 (p =.00.) Community school results for the number of proficient students were Math 2016 (p =.00), Math 2017 (p =.00). As a result, the Wilcoxon sum rank test was used to determine if there was a significant difference between community schools and noncommunity schools in students scoring proficient on PARCC assessment in Math 2016, ELA 2016, Math 2017, and ELA 2017.

Means Data

The student achievement of noncommunity schools and community schools was measured using PARCC assessment scores (see Table 3). Analysis of the community school and noncommunity school student achievement PARCC Math rates show that the mean scores for community schools (Math 2016, M = 710.43; Math 2017, M = 710.25) were lower than those of noncommunity schools (Math 2016, M = 714.83; Math 2017, M = 715.57). When comparing the community school and noncommunity school student achievement PARCC ELA rates, the mean scores for community schools (ELA 2016, M = 706.80; ELA 2017, M = 706.75) were lower than those of noncommunity schools (ELA 2016, M = 711.39; ELA 2017, M = 711.89). When comparing the number of students scoring proficient (see Table 4) on the PARCC assessment, analysis showed that number of students scoring proficient in Math in community schools (Math proficiency 2016, M = 7.53; Math proficiency 2017, M = 7.33) were fewer than those of at noncommunity schools (Math proficiency 2016, M = 11.69; Math proficiency 2017, M = 11.73). Analysis also showed that the number of students scoring proficient in ELA in community schools (ELA proficiency 2016, M = 6.01; ELA proficiency 2017, M = 6.16) were fewer than those in noncommunity schools (ELA proficiency 2017, M = 9.80; ELA proficiency 2017, M =11.27).

Table 3

	М	SD
Community schools ^a		
Math 2016	710.43	10.93
ELA 2016	706.80	10.67
Math 2017	710.25	10.37
ELA 2017	706.75	9.64
Noncommunity schools ^b		
Math 2016	714.83	13.26
ELA 2016	711.39	12.86
Math 2017	715.57	13.61
ELA 2017	711.89	14.21
M. (a 40 h 70		

Mean PARCC Scores for Noncommunity and Community Schools

Note. ${}^{a}n = 40$. ${}^{b}n = 70$.

Table 4

Mean PARCC Student Proficiency Rate for Noncommunity and Community Schools

М	SD
7.53	5.46
6.01	5.32
7.33	4.96
6.16	4.35
11.69	9.84
9.80	8.71
11.73	10.80
11.27	10.74
	<i>M</i> 7.53 6.01 7.33 6.16 11.69 9.80 11.73 11.27

Note. ${}^{a}n = 40$. ${}^{b}n = 70$.

Research Outcomes

Because all the schools studied were from the same school district, and had similar populations of students, equal variance was assumed. Group statistics were used to determine the

standard error of the mean for PARCC Math and ELA scores for both community schools and noncommunity schools in 2016 and 2017. The standard error of the mean for the eight samples ranged from 1.524 to 1.728. This small variability indicates that the results are in alignment with the actual population mean for Baltimore City, providing confidence in the accuracy of the outcome.

Math 2016 Mean. A Wilcoxon rank sum test was used to compare the Math 2016 student achievement of community schools (M = 48.86, SD = 10.93) and noncommunity schools (M = 59.29, SD = 13.26). The results of the Wilcoxon sum rank test showed that there was no statistically significant difference between the performance of community schools and noncommunity schools, Z = -1.65, p = .10.

ELA 2016 Mean. A Wilcoxon rank sum test was used to compare ELA mean student achievement in 2016 for community schools (M = 47.85, SD = 10.67) and noncommunity schools (M = 59.87, SD = 12.86). The results indicated that although noncommunity schools scored slightly better than community schools, there was not a significant difference in the 2016 ELA scores Z = -1.90, p < .06.

Math 2017 Mean. A Wilcoxon rank sum test was used to compare the Math 2017 student achievement of community schools (M = 47.61, SD = 10.37) and noncommunity schools (M = 60.01, SD = 13.61). The results showed that there was a statistically significant difference between the performance of community schools and noncommunity schools, Z = -1.96, p < .05.

ELA 2017 Mean. A Wilcoxon rank sum test was used to compare the ELA 2017 student achievement of community schools (M = 48.88, SD = 9.64) and noncommunity schools (M = 48.88, SD = 9.64) and noncommunity schools (M = 48.88, SD = 9.64) and noncommunity schools (M = 48.88).

59.29, SD = 14.21). The results showed that there was no statistically significant difference between the performance of community schools and noncommunity schools Z = -1.648, p < .10.

ELA 2016 Proficient. A Wilcoxon rank sum test was used to compare noncommunity schools (M = 61.03, SD = 8.71) and community schools (M = 45.83, SD = 5.32) on the number of students scoring proficient on PARCC 2016 ELA assessment. The results showed that there was a statistically significant difference between the number of students scoring proficient Z = -2.41, p < .05.

Math 2016 Proficient. A Wilcoxon rank sum test was used to compare noncommunity schools (M = 60.35, SD = 9.84) and community schools (M = 47.01, SD = 5.46) on the number of students scoring proficient on the PARCC 2016 Math assessment. The results showed that there was a statistically significant difference between the number of students scoring proficient Z = -2.11, p < .05.

ELA 2017 Proficient. A Wilcoxon rank sum test was used to compare noncommunity schools (M = 61.04, SD = 10.74) and community schools (M = 45.80, SD = 4.35) on the number of students scoring proficient on PARCC 2017 ELA assessment. The results showed that there was a statistically significant difference between the number of students scoring proficient Z = -2.41, p < .05.

Math 2017 Proficient. A Wilcoxon rank sum test was used to compare noncommunity schools (M = 60.03, SD = 10.8/0) and community schools (M = 47.58, SD = 4.96) on the number of students scoring proficient on PARCC 2017 Math assessment. The results showed that there was a statistically significant difference between the number of students scoring proficient Z = -1.97, p < .05.

Results for Research Question 1

When comparing student achievement between community schools and noncommunity schools on the PARCC assessment, the results were mixed. There was no statistically significant difference between the mean scores of community schools and noncommunity schools on the 2016 Math assessment, 2016 ELA assessment, and on the 2017 ELA assessment. There was a statistically significant difference between the mean scores of community schools and noncommunity schools and noncommunity schools on the 2017 Math assessment. There was also a statistically significant difference between the mean scores of community schools and noncommunity schools on the 2017 Math assessment. There was also a statistically significant difference between community schools and noncommunity schools in the number of students who scored proficient on the PARCC assessment on the 2016 Math, 2016 ELA, 2017 Math, and 2017 ELA assessments. Because of the mixed results, we reject the null hypothesis as there does appear to be a relationship between student achievement and community or noncommunity school management type.

Research Question 2: Attendance Rates

Research Question 2: What is the difference in the attendance rates of community schools and noncommunity schools in 2016 and 2017?

Null Hypothesis 2: Schools with a community school management type have no statistically significant difference in the aggregate student attendance rates in 2016 and 2017. Comparison of the attendance rates of community schools and noncommunity schools was made

based on the overall attendance rates as well as the number of chronically absent students in each management type of school in 2016 and 2017.

Test for Normality and Equality of Variance

A Shapiro-Wilk normality test found that in both community schools as well as noncommunity schools the attendance rates as well as the number of chronically absent students was approximately normally distributed in both 2016 and 2017. Noncommunity school data showed an attendance rate for 2016 had a skewness of -0.18 (SE = .29) and a kurtosis of -0.58(SE = .57), a chronically absent student 2016 skewness of .35 (SE = .29) and a kurtosis of -0.54(SE = .57), attendance 2017 skewness of -0.35 (SE = .28) and a kurtosis of -0.04 (SE = .57) and a chronically absent student 2017 reporting of a skewness of .28 (SE = .28) and a kurtosis of -0.48 (SE = .57). Community school data reporting showed an attendance 2016 rate with a skewness of -0.61 (SE = .37) and a kurtosis of -0.26 (SE = .73), a chronically absent student 2016 rate skewness of 0.65 (SE = .37) and a kurtosis of -0.21 (SE = .73), a 2017 attendance rates skewness of -0.26 (SE = .37) and a kurtosis of -0.07 (SE = .73), and a 2017 chronically absent student skewness of 0.19 (SE = .37) and a kurtosis of -0.54 (SE = .73). The Levene's test for equality variances found the *p*-values for each test to be greater than .05, indicating that the variances in the community school data and noncommunity school data were equal for all data points. An independent samples t test was run to compare the attendance rates and chronically absent student rates between community schools and noncommunity schools.

Means Data

A comparison of community school and noncommunity school means data was conducted (see Table 5). Community schools had a lower attendance rate in 2016 and 2017 and a higher number of chronically absent students in 2016 and 2017. The standard error of the mean when comparing community schools and noncommunity schools ranged from .2596 to 1.6900.

Table 5

	М	SD
Community schools ^a		
Attendance rate 2016	92.28	2.68
Chronically absent 2016	19.14	10.69
Attendance rate 2017	91.40	2.66
Chronically absent 2017	22.26	10.32
Noncommunity schools ^b		
Attendance rate 2016	92.60	2.17
Chronically absent 2016	17.86	8.73
Attendance rate 2017	91.83	2.57
Chronically absent 2017	21.10	10.34
N (a 10 h 70		

Mean Attendance and Chronically Absent Rates for Noncommunity and Community Schools

Note. ${}^{a}n = 40$. ${}^{b}n = 70$.

Research Outcome

The Levene's test of normality found the *p*-values for each test to be greater than .05, indicating that the variances in the community school data and noncommunity school data were equal for all data points. An independent samples *t* test was run to compare the attendance rates and chronically absent student rates between community schools and noncommunity schools.

Attendance Rate 2016. Data from the 70 noncommunity schools (M = 92.60, SD =

2.17) were compared to that of the 40 community schools (M = 92.28, SD = 2.68). Although noncommunity schools had a better attendance rate, there was no statistically significant difference between community schools and noncommunity schools, t(108) = .675, p = .50.

Chronically Absent Students 2016. The number of chronically absent students in 2016 was compared between noncommunity schools (M = 17.86, SD = 8.73) and community schools

(M = 19.14, SD = 10.69). There was no statistically significant difference between community schools and noncommunity schools, t(108) = -0.677, p = .50.

Attendance Rate 2017. Attendance rates for 2017 were used to compare noncommunity schools (M = 91.83, SD = 2.57) and community schools (M = 91.40, SD = 2.67). There was a not a statistically significant difference between community schools and noncommunity schools, t(108) = .830, p = .41.

Chronically Absent Students 2017. Chronically absent student numbers from 2017 were used to compare noncommunity schools (M = 21.10, SD = 10.34) and community schools (M = 22.26, SD = 10.32). There was no statistically significant difference between community schools and noncommunity schools, t(108) = -.569, p = .57.

Results of Research Question 2

Although community school students showed slightly lower attendance rates and a higher number of chronically absent students, the results indicate that there was a statistical difference between community schools and noncommunity school attendance rate in 2017. Therefore, we reject the null hypothesis as there does not appear to be a relationship between student attendance and community or noncommunity school management type.

Research Question 3: Suspension Incidences

Research Question 3: What is the difference in student suspensions in Baltimore City community schools and noncommunity schools in 2016 and 2017?

Null Hypothesis 3: There is no significant difference in the number of student suspensions in community schools and noncommunity schools in 2016 and 2017.

In 2017, there were 30,031 students enrolled in noncommunity schools included in this study. During that time, there were 1,677 incidences of students suspended from noncommunity schools. Community schools had an enrollment of 18,884 students in 2017. In the 2016-2017 school year, there were 1,778 incidences of students suspended from community schools. Calculating the number of days out of school due to suspensions in 2016 revealed that the 2,081 suspension incidences in noncommunity schools were responsible for 5,794 missed days of school. In community schools, the number of suspension incidences in 2016 totaled 1,979, which accounted for 5,337 days out of school. The three data points used for comparisons were the number of suspensions in 2016, number of suspensions in 2017, and number of days out of schools due to suspensions in 2016. The number of days missed is a data set only reported on in even years, so the study had no data from 2017 to analyze. The purpose of including the number of days missed due to suspensions was to add additional validity to how suspension data are interpreted, as schools themselves may experience disciplinary infractions of varying severity, thereby potentially requiring varied days out of school due to suspensions. For example, a student suspended from school for stealing lunch money would presumably receive a different consequence from the student who is suspended for physically attacking a peer. In order to account for potential differences due to types of suspensions, the number of days out of school due to suspensions was analyzed.

Test for Normality

The data were first checked for normality by viewing graphical displays and conducing the Shapiro-Wilk normality test. The test results showed *p*-values less than .05, indicating that the community school and noncommunity school suspension data were not normally distributed. The Wilcoxon rank sum test was used to analyze the data sets.

Noncommunity school data for number of suspensions 2016 had a skewness of 1.61 (*SE* = .31) and a kurtosis of 3.49 (*SE* = .61); for number of suspensions 2017 there was a skewness of 2.60 (*SE* = .31) and a kurtosis of 9.12 (*SE* = .61), and for suspension days out of school 2016 there was a skewness of 1.69 (*SE* = .39) and a kurtosis of 2.03 (*SE* = .759). Community school data for number of suspensions 2016 had a skewness of 2.437 (*SE* = .39) and a kurtosis of 7.42 (*SE* = .76); for suspensions 2017 there was a skewness of 1.69 (*SE* = .39) and a kurtosis of 2.03 (*SE* = .39) and a kurtosis of 2.03 (*SE* = .39) and a kurtosis of 2.03 (*SE* = .39) and a kurtosis of 7.42 (*SE* = .76); for suspensions 2017 there was a skewness of 1.69 (*SE* = .39) and a kurtosis of 2.03 (*SE* = .76); for suspensions 2017 there was a skewness of 1.69 (*SE* = .39) and a kurtosis of 2.03 (*SE* = .76), and for suspension days out of school 2016 there was a skewness of 2.87 (*SE* = .39) and a kurtosis of 9.21 (*SE* = .76).

Means Data

Because all the schools studied were from the same school district, and had similar populations of students, equal variance was assumed. A comparison of mean suspension data (see Table 6) for noncommunity and community schools was conducted. Noncommunity schools reported a mean of 30.16 for number of suspensions 2016, 24.63 for number of suspensions 2017, and 91.97 for number of suspension days out of school 2016. Community school means showed 49.48 for number of suspensions 2016, 44.45 for number of suspensions 2017, and 144.24 for number of suspension days out of school 2016.

Table 6

	М	SD
Community Schools		
Suspensions Incidences 2016 ^a	7.53	5.46
Suspension Days Out 2016 ^b	6.01	5.32
Suspension Incidences 2017 ^c	7.33	4.96
Noncommunity Schools		
Suspension Incidences 2016 ^d	11.69	9.84
Suspension Days Out 2016 ^e	9.80	8.71
Suspension Incidences 2017 ^f	11.73	10.80
<i>Note.</i> ${}^{a}n = 40$. ${}^{b}n = 37$. ${}^{c}n = 49$. ${}^{d}n =$	69. $e_n = 63$. f	n = 68.

Mean Suspension Rate and Suspension Days for Noncommunity and Community Schools

Days Missed from School due to Suspensions in 2016

The Wilcoxon rank sum test was conducted to evaluate whether there was a statistically significant difference in the number of days missed from school due to suspensions between the 63 noncommunity schools and 37 community schools in 2016. The results indicated a statistically significant difference, Z = -2.24, p < .05 between the number of days missed due to suspensions in community schools and noncommunity schools

Number of Suspensions 2016. The Wilcoxon rank sum test was used to compare the number of suspension incidences in 2016 between 69 noncommunity schools and 40 community schools. The results indicated that there was no statistically significant difference between the noncommunity school and community school suspension incidences in 2016, Z = -1.66, p < .10.

Number of Suspensions 2017. Using the Wilcoxon rank sum test, the number of suspension incidences for 68 noncommunity schools and 40 community schools in 2017 was analyzed. The results indicated that there was no statistically significant difference between the noncommunity school and community school suspension incidences in 2017, Z = -1.84, p > .05.

Results for Research Question 3

The results indicate that there was a statistically significant difference between community schools and noncommunity schools in the number of suspensions in 2016 and 2017. This was not the case when comparing for the number of days out of school due to suspensions. Because of the significant results for the number of suspensions in 2016 and 2017, we reject the null hypothesis.

Research Question 4: School Climate

Research Question 4: What is the relationship between school climate indices (physical security, respectful relationships, school connectedness) and the community school management type in Baltimore City Schools in 2017?

Null Hypothesis 4: There is no relationship between school climate (physical security, respectful relationships, or school connectedness) and community school management type.

In school years 2016 and 2017, Baltimore City Public Schools measured school climate in part by the responses received on surveys administered to staff, parents, and students. The three question indices reported in each school's profile document are the Physical Security Index (PSI), School Connectedness Index (SCI), and the Respectful Relationships Index (RRI). This study compared the community schools and noncommunity schools based on how teachers, students, and parents responded to the school climate survey. The school climate data were organized into two categories, positive climate index ratings greater than or equal to 75% were coded as 1.00 and those that were less than 75% are coded as 2.00.

Crosstabulation

The comparison data provided by the crosstabulation provided insights into the percentages of noncommunity schools and community schools whose climate survey respondents provided favorable ratings of \geq 75. There were 70 noncommunity schools and 40 community schools each year (see Table 7).

The number of noncommunity schools whose respondents provided favorable survey ratings were 34 (48.5%) for the Physical Security Index, 19 (27.1%) for the Respectful Relationships Index, and 53 (75.7%) for the School Connectedness Index. Community schools with favorable survey ratings for 2016 numbered 15 (37.5%) for the Physical Security Index, 10 (25%) for the Respectful Relationships Index, and 32 (80%) for the School Connectedness Index.

Noncommunity schools and community schools were also compared for their school climate in school year 2017, using the same criteria of favorable survey index ratings being \geq 75. The number of noncommunity schools whose respondents indicated favorable ratings in the climate survey indices were 38 (54.2%) favorable response ratings for the Physical Security Index, 17 (24.2%) for the Respectful Relationships Index, and 61 (87.1%) for the School Connectedness Index. Community schools with respondents indicating favorable survey ratings for 2017 numbered 13 (32.5%) favorable for the Physical Security Index, 7 (17.5%) for the Respectful Relationships Index, and 33 (82.5%) for the School Connectedness Index.

Table 7

Frequency Tables for Chi Square Test

PSI 2016

School Type	75–100 %	less than 75%	Total
Noncommunity	34	36	70
Community	15	25	40
Total	49	61	110

RRI 2016

School Type	75–100 %	less than 75%	Total
Noncommunity	19	51	70
Community	10	30	40
Total	29	81	110

SCI 2016

School Type	75–100 %	less than 75%	Total
Noncommunity	53	17	70
Community	32	8	40
Total	85	25	110

PSI 2017

School Type	75–100 %	less than 75%	Total
Noncommunity	38	32	70
Community	13	27	40
Total	51	59	110

RRI 2017

School Type	75–100 %	less than 75%	Total
Noncommunity	17	53	70
Community	7	33	40
Total	24	86	110

CCT	20	17
SUL	_20	11/
	-	

School Type	75–100 %	less than 75%	Total
Noncommunity	61	9	70
Community	33	7	40
Total	94	16	110

Research Outcomes

Chi-square tests of independence were used to determine if there was a statistically significant relationship between school management type, of community schools and noncommunity schools, and school climate. School climate was determined by analysis of school climate survey responses for the indices of Physical Security, Respectful Relationships, and School Connectedness.

Physical Security. The number of schools in 2016 whose respondents provided favorable ratings for the Physical Security Index did not significantly differ between noncommunity schools and community schools $X^2(1, N = 110) = 1.263, p = .26$. There was a significant relationship between school management type in 2017 and community responses to the Physical Security Index $X^2(1, N = 110) = 4.858, p < .05$.

Respectful Relationships. The chi-square test of independence showed that there was no significant association between school management type in 2016 and the Respectful Relationships Climate Index, $X^2(1, N = 110) = .060, p = .81$. Analysis of the 2017 data also depicts that there was no relationship between school management type and respectful relationships, $X^2(1, N = 110) = .687, p = .41$.

School Connectedness. Data analysis revealed that there was no relationship between school connectedness and school management type in 2016, $X^2(1, N = 110) = .27, p = .61$. The 2017 data similarly showed no significant relationship between school connectedness and school management type, $X^2(1, N = 110) = .44, p = .51$.

Results for Research Question 4

The results of the data analysis found that in 2016 and 2017, there was no significant relationship between community schools and noncommunity schools and school climate when measuring the school connectedness and respectful relationships indices. There was also no significant relationship between school management type and the Physical Security Index in 2016. However, there was a significant relationship between school management type and the Physical Security Index in 2016. However, there was a significant relationship between school management type and the Physical Security Index in 2017. Indices examined were the 2016 and 2017 Physical Security, 2016 and 2017 Respectful Relationships, and 2016 and 2017 School Connectedness. Because there was a significant difference between community schools and noncommunity schools in one of the six indices measured, we must reject the null hypothesis.

Summary

Data from 2016 and 2017 were analyzed in order to determine if there were any trends that indicated differences between community schools and noncommunity schools in the Baltimore City Public School district.

The first research question asked whether there was a statistical difference between community schools and noncommunity schools on the 2016 and 2017 PARCC assessment for ELA or Math. The analysis determined while the students in both school management types had similar mean scores on the PARCC assessment, there was a significant difference between community schools and noncommunity schools when considering the number of students scoring proficient on the PARCC assessment in 2016 and 2017, in both ELA and Math. Because of the mixed results, we reject the null hypothesis as there does appear to be a relationship between student achievement and community or noncommunity school management type.

The second research question asked whether there was a statistical difference between community schools and noncommunity schools when it came to student attendance in 2016 and 2017. The question was extended to look at the rate of chronically absent students in both types of schools in 2016 and 2017. Although students in community schools had a better attendance rate, and lower chronic absenteeism rate, the differences were slight. Overall, there was no statistical difference between community schools and noncommunity schools with regard to either student attendance or chronic absenteeism rates. We failed to reject the second null hypothesis.

The third research question asked if there was a statistical difference between community schools and noncommunity schools when considering the 2016 and 2017 suspension rates. In addition, the number of days missed from school due to being suspended in school year 2016 was analyzed. With statistical significance between community school and noncommunity school suspension rates in 2017, the third null hypothesis was rejected.

The fourth research question asked if there was a statistical difference between community schools and noncommunity schools and the 2016 and 2017 school climate responses. The responses were organized using cut scores of greater than or equal to 75 and those that were less than or equal to 74. School climate was organized into three indices: Physical Security, Respectful Relationships, and School Connectedness. The data from each school climate index were analyzed and indicated that there was a significant relationship between school

management type and the 2017 Physical Security Index. Therefore, we reject the fourth null hypothesis.

The data in this chapter were analyzed for the purpose of drawing direct comparisons between community schools and noncommunity schools in the areas of academic achievement, student attendance, suspension rates, and school climate. The results of this research found that in Baltimore City, community schools and noncommunity schools performed quite similarly in most areas. Insights into this as well as recommended next steps for future research will be shared in the next chapter.

Chapter 5

Discussion

Introduction

Community schools are designed to bring a partnership between schools, families, and the community in order to support student achievement (Alonso et al., 2011). Like many large urban school districts across the nation, Baltimore City Public Schools adopted the community school initiative in 2005 as a school reform strategy to support the needs of the communities from which the students come in an effort to ultimately positively impact student achievement. Epstein's overlapping spheres of influence (Feasey, 2017) theory suggests that addressing the needs of students and their families, and partnering with parents and community members, are effective strategies for impacting student achievement. Services such as imbedded health and therapeutic services for families, extracurricular academic support, meals, and childcare are provided in many of the Baltimore City community schools (Durham et al., 2017). The purpose of this study was to examine the data in order to determine if the programs and resources in Baltimore City community schools resulted in a statistically significant difference between community schools and noncommunity schools in the areas of student achievement, suspensions, attendance, and school climate.

Summary of Findings

Four research questions were posed to answer the question of whether or not a difference exists between community schools and noncommunity schools in the areas of student achievement, suspension rates, attendance rates, and overall school climate.

In Maryland in 2016 and 2017, Grades 3–5 student performance in math and English Language Arts (ELA) was measured using the Partnership for Assessment of Readiness for college and Careers (PARCC). Student scores would range from 1–5. Those scoring a 4 or a 5 were considered proficient by state standards. Baltimore City underperforms when compared to other districts in the state of Maryland. In 2016 and 2017, the average number of students meeting or exceeding expectations was 39.5% in the state of Maryland. In Baltimore City, the average number of students meeting or exceeding expectations in 2016 and 2017 was only 14.5%. Research Question 1 sought to answer whether or not there was a statistically significant difference between community schools and noncommunity schools when measuring student achievement in math and ELA using PARCC assessment data. Data analysis showed that when comparing the means of community schools and noncommunity schools, there was no statistically significant difference in the areas of Math 2016, Math 2017, and ELA 2016. However, there was a statistically significant difference between community schools and noncommunity schools on the mean 2017 ELA scores, with noncommunity schools slightly outperforming community schools. It is possible for a school management type to have a lower mean score on the PARCC assessment, when compared to the other school management type, yet still have more students who are considered proficient, scoring a 4 or 5. This study examined the number of students proficient on the PARCC assessment in 2016 and 12017. There was a statistically significant difference between community schools and noncommunity schools in the number of proficient students for 2016 Math, 2016 ELA, 2017 Math, and 2017 ELA. In all four content areas measured, there was a greater number of proficient students in noncommunity schools. This study answered the question of academic achievement and rejected the null hypothesis for the first research question.
Prior research (Olson, 2014; Sheldon, 2007) on the effect of community school initiatives and student attendance indicated that there was nonconclusive to no significant relationship. The second research question in this study queried whether a statistically significant difference existed between community schools and noncommunity schools when measuring student attendance in 2016 and 2017. There was no significant difference found in the attendance rates. Baltimore City labels students who are absent for 10% or greater of the school year as being chronically absent (Baltimore City Public Schools, 2020a). Chronic absenteeism may be caused by factors such as a student's disability, food insecurity, family homelessness, traumatic experiences, and maladaptive behavioral and social skills (Elliott & Place, 2019; Stempel et al., 2017). This study's analysis of the 2016 and 2017 data for chronically absent Baltimore City students found that there was no statistically significant difference between community schools and noncommunity schools. The null hypothesis for the second research question was retained.

A successful disciplinary intervention should be multifaceted to address the unique needs experienced by families in the community schools (Voyles, 2012). In Baltimore City Public Schools, behavioral expectations for students are outlined in the Code of Conduct (Baltimore City Schools, 2020e). The Code of Conduct contains five levels of intervention. The first level is for strategies to be employed by classroom teachers. The second level involves administrative responses. Levels 3 through 5 are suspension-worthy responses with increasing time out of school. The third research question examined the number of suspension incidences in relation to the school management types of community schools or noncommunity schools. Suspension data were first examined by comparing the number of suspension incidences between community and noncommunity schools in 2016 and 2017. A student may be suspended more than once in a given school year, yet each suspension incident would be counted separately for this study.

Although overall, noncommunity schools suspended students at a slightly higher rate in 2016 and 2017, there was no statistically significant difference between community schools and noncommunity schools. Analyzing the number of days missed from school due to suspensions provided some insights into the severity of the infraction. For example, two schools may have 10 suspension incidences each in a given year. Yet for the first school, the incidences may all be Level 3 in the Code of Conduct, while the comparison school incidences may be due to Level 4 infractions. In this case, analyzing the number of suspensions alone would not be as insightful without also considering the number of days missed from school due to suspensions. In this study, analysis of the number of days missed from school in 2017 due to suspensions found that there was a statistically significant difference between community schools and noncommunity schools. This finding helped to clearly answer the third research question and led to the null hypothesis being rejected.

Many of the communities in Baltimore City are riddled with poverty, creating chasms between its inhabitants and valuable resources that residents need to thrive (Nettles, 1991; Waddock, 1995). A study of the overlapping spheres of influence (Elliott & Elliott, 1996) indicated that strengthening parental relationships led to increased student achievement. Researchers (Halsey, 2001; Sanders, 2001) assign a high degree of value to parent partnerships and school climate. However, there has been inconsistent and limited evidence of the impact of community schools on school climate (Johnston et al., 2020). School climate was an area of keen interest in this study. Community schools are said to be characterized by cooperation with external organizations, parental involvement, and extracurricular activities (Heers et al., 2014). As such, it was expected that there would be a significant difference between community schools

and noncommunity schools in the area of school climate. The school climate used in this study was the product of data provided by the district based on surveys administered to students, parents, and school staff. School year 2016-2017 was the last school year in which the survey was administered by the district to all three parties. In this study, the fourth research question compared the school climate of community schools and noncommunity schools in 2016 and 2017. Staff, student, and parent surveys provided insights categorized into three indices, Physical Security, School Connectedness, and Respectful Relationships. When analyzing the Physical Security Index, there was a statistically significant difference between community schools and noncommunity schools in 2017. In fact, in that school year, the difference between community schools (32.5%) and noncommunity schools (54.2%) was vast. Although this was not a correlational study, it is wondered if the higher number of suspensions at community schools resulted in the low sense of physical security. There was no statistically significant difference in the 2016 Physical Security Index. Additionally, there was no statistically significant difference between community schools and noncommunity schools when analyzing the School Connectedness or Respectful Relationships indices in 2016 and 2017. The results for school climate were mixed, with no incidences of community schools having a stronger school climate than noncommunity schools.

Limitations

Limitations in the design of the study that were mentioned in Chapter 3 included the ongoing availability of the data. Because some of the schools have shuttered since this research began, and because the climate survey is no longer administered by Baltimore City Public Schools to staff, students and parents, future researchers will be unable to exactly replicate this study using identical sources. In all, this research design, comparing community schools to

noncommunity schools within the same district, could be replicated by future researchers for Baltimore City or other districts. Consideration for these findings should be made with the understanding that although data were gathered from two different management types, community schools and noncommunity schools, all of the schools are from the same district. Therefore, the policies and practices defining school aspects, such as professional development disciplinary practices, are common across both school management types.

Implications for Further Research

The benefits of using preexisting data for this study were numerous. The climate surveys implemented by Baltimore City Public Schools were vetted, increasing their validity. The data regarding individual schools that were reported by the district, and confirmed by the state of Maryland, also increases the transparency and validity of the data, as well as make it easily generalized by future researchers (Weston et al., 2019). By providing numerous variables in this research, the information gathered can be used to confirm past study analyses as well as provide opportunities to explore additional potential correlations in the study.

Educators widely espouse that there is a correlation between school attendance and academic achievement. In this study, there was a significant difference found between community schools and noncommunity schools with regard to student achievement. The data in this research could be used to study the correlations between academic achievement and school attendance, in order to determine if prior research (Cosgrove et al., 2018; Oghuvbu, 2010), which states that school attendance is a strong predictor of academic success, could be confirmed. This would support community school research that suggests that ongoing communication between home and school, specifically about the importance of school attendance on academic

achievement, proven to be valuable in increasing both attendance and academic achievement (Epstein & Sheldon, 2002).

Researchers (Wald & Losen, 2003) have discussed the detrimental effect of missed school due to suspensions on the academic trajectory of students. Heavily punitive disciplinary systems are harmful to student achievement, with lengthy suspensions leading to expulsions and arrests for minor adolescent infractions (Mallett, 2016). Future researchers may be interested in determining if correlations exist between student achievement and suspension rates in Baltimore City community and noncommunity schools. Such findings would help to further the discussion that the impediments to academic achievement for at-risk students are more complex than suspension numbers. Further, a correlational study between school climate and suspensions could be used to address research that suggests that students who have been suspended have a more negative impression of school as whole than do their counterparts who have never been suspended (Huang & Anyon, 2020). Likewise, the perceptions of school staff are negatively correlated to suspension rates (Bear et al., 2014).

A positive school climate promotes attendance and academic achievement (Daily et al., 2020). After implementing community school initiatives from 2014–2016, New York City saw a decrease in chronic absenteeism by 3% which was greater than the 1% decrease seen in noncommunity schools (Superville, 2017). Community schools do not have the monopoly on positive environments. This is something, through their style of leadership, school administrators can positively impact (Black, 2010). A potential correlational study between school climate and academic achievement in Baltimore City community schools may aid school leaders in designing strategies to engage their school partners.

Future researchers can utilize this study as the foundation of their research on community schools. Strategies for extending the research further could be to take a deeper look at community schools using families as the sample size instead of the entire school. This would allow researchers to measure the ability of community school initiatives to ameliorate needs identified by families and targeted by that specific school's partnership, such as adult education, mental health, physical health, and food security. This would also allow researchers to determine the degree to which families took advantage of the resources provided by the community schools. Another aspect for consideration, when looking at the family unit, is the impact of the family on the learning styles of the students. Diverse cultural backgrounds, as well as the learning styles of the parents themselves, may impact students significantly. Parents attempting to partner with the teacher and school may be able to prepare their child to recognize their learning styles in order to create a plan with the teacher and school that helps the student to be successful (Martin & Potter, 1998).

Leaders in education often rely on an input/output (Eide & Showalter, 2010) method of determining the effectiveness of intervention efforts. This can be a very formulaic means of assuming that if given specific inputs such as class size, extracurricular activities, and family involvement, then the outputs of student achievement and high attendance should be realized. However, research has shown that the complexity of meeting the needs of many students requires an intentional approach to addressing barriers to learning. A variable that must be considered in educational research is the student. The students, with their diverse experiences and changing needs, create a challenge for educational researchers who are seeking to evaluate policy and programs. Toxic stress experienced by at-risk children, such as those who live in poverty or have experienced a trauma, may impact not only how the students learn but also how

they develop physically, socially, and emotionally (Browne, 2014). These are the populations most often targeted by community school initiatives. The long-lasting impact of toxic stress cannot be understated, as students living in poverty, born preterm, and having experienced toxic stress are more likely to experience a learning disability and increased diagnoses of ADD/ADHD (Kelly & Li, 2019). Researchers seeking to investigate the effectiveness of community schools to mitigate factors such as poverty, toxic stress, unemployment, lack of access to healthcare, and food insecurity, are encouraged to consider measures that address progress as a research output, as opposed to achievement.

Students from the notoriously effective community school program in New York City, the Harlem Children's Zone (HCZ), have shown that after attending one of the charter schools in the HCZ have closed the achievement gap between low-income minority children and their White counterparts (Robelen, 2009). HCZ targets the families within a 100-block radius, providing adult education, health supports, and extracurricular academic support. It is based on the needs of, and driven by, the community itself. The charter schools support community initiatives already in place, as opposed to Baltimore City community schools, where the initiatives are driven by the school with the hope of getting community and parent buy-in. Future researchers may be interested in comparing design of successful community school programs such as the HCZ to the Baltimore City design, in order to determine if there are identifiable factors that impact student achievement, attendance, suspension, and school climate.

This study has sought to answer the question, "Do community schools work?" Based on the results of this study, the answer would be no, they do not. Many of Baltimore City's community schools have been in place for over 10 years, yet their students are performing on par or worse than their counterparts in noncommunity schools. The degree to which the needs of Baltimore neighborhoods are assuaged may not be adequately measured by traditional school measures of state assessment proficiency, attendance, suspensions, or school climate. By design, the intervention programs in community schools are reactionary, developed based on the identified needs of the neighborhoods. The willingness of the community to participate in the interventions, as well as the degree to which the interventions provide appropriately comprehensive supports, may all impact the degrees of change for community school students. A longitudinal study may determine that, over time, there are benefits to the students and communities in Baltimore. Looking specifically at student achievement, attendance, suspensions, and school climate in community schools, comparing community schools to themselves over time, could provide meaningful insights into the progress of the Baltimore City community school initiative. Quantitative data measuring long-term improved health, parental employment, and social services such as food security and consistent housing accessed through resources provided by community school partners may be alternate means for measuring the successes of community schools.

Conclusion

Epstein's theory asserts that the effect of strong school–family partnerships is increased opportunities to be responsive to the needs of learners (Epstein, 2011). While this theory is not exclusively applied to community schools, such schools by their design are primed to formalize the partnerships that would foster shared decision-making and increased parental involvement. The design of community schools in Baltimore City has provided a framework for garnering insights into the valuable cultural and social characteristics of a community that must be understood in order to understand the values of community partners (Theobald, 1991). This study found that there was little evidence to support the benefit of community school programs

in Baltimore City based on the current measures of school success: academic achievement, suspensions, attendance, and school climate. In fact, the students in community schools performed worse on standardized assessments. This study was one lens through which to view community schools. As district leaders consider interventions for factors that impede student achievement, this study may be useful in determining how best to measure strategies that impact the unique and ever-changing needs of communities.

References

- Adams, C. M. (2019). Sustaining full-service community schools: Lessons from the Tulsa Area Community Schools Initiative. *Journal of Education for Students Placed at Risk*, 24(3), 288–313. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10824669.2019.1615924</u>
- Afterschool Alliance. (2007). Afterschool: The bridge connecting schools and communities. MetLife Foundation Afterschool Alert, Issue Brief Number 30. Retrieved from <u>http://afterschoolalliance.org/documents/issue_briefs/issue_bridge_30.pdf</u>
- Alexander, K. L., Entwisle, D. R., & Olson, L. S. (2014). *The long shadow: Family background, disadvantaged urban youth, and the transition to adulthood*. Russell Sage Foundation.
- Alonso, A., Duke, N., & English, M. (2011). Baltimore City Public Schools. Retrieved from U.S. Department of Education: <u>http://www.ed.gov/labor-</u> managementcollaboration/conference/baltimore-city- public-schools
- Anderson Moore, K., & Emig, C. (2014). Integrated student supports: A summary of the evidence base for policymakers. Child Trends.

https://www.childtrends.org/wpcontent/uploads/2014/02/2014-05ISSWhitePaper3.pdf

- Anson, A. R., & Others. (1991). The Comer school development program: A theoretical analysis. *Urban Education*, *26*(1), 56–82.
- Azcoitia, C. M. (2002). Comprehensive community schools...Chicago style. *School Community Journal*, *12*(1), 137–141.
- Báez, J. C., Renshaw, K. J., Bachman, L. E. M., Kim, D., Smith, V. D., & Stafford, R. E. (2019).
 Understanding the necessity of trauma-informed care in community schools: A mixed methods program evaluation. *Children & Schools*, *41*(2), 101–110.
 https://doi.org/10.1093/cs/cdz007

Baltimore City Health Department. (2017). Baltimore City 2017 Neighborhood Health Profile

Baltimore City Public School System. (2016b). 2016-2017 Community schools and

lead agencies. Retrieved from https://www.baltimorecityschools.org/schools

Baltimore City Public Schools. (2017). School profile- Fall 2017.

Retrieved from https://www.baltimorecityschools.org/schools

Baltimore City Schools. (2019). District profile – Fall 2019.

Retrieved from https://www.baltimorecityschools.org/district-overview

Baltimore City Public Schools. (2020a). Attendance.

Retrieved from https://www.baltimorecityschools.org/attendance

- Baltimore City Public Schools. (2020b). *Family focused updates: Current news, academic information, and more*. Available at <u>https://www.baltimorecityschools.org/family-</u>updates
- Baltimore City Public Schools. (2020c). *School effectiveness: School survey*. Retrieved from https://www.baltimorecityschools.org/data
- Baltimore City Public Schools. (2020d). *School Year 16-17 School Level_OFFICIAL*. Retrieved from https://www.baltimorecityschools.org/data

Baltimore City Public Schools. (2020e). Student code of conduct. Retrieved from

https://www.baltimorecityschools.org/sites/default/files/inline-files/conduct_english.pdf

- Baltimore City Public Schools. (2020f). 2019-2020 Student enrollment. City schools at a glance. Retrieved from https://www.baltimorecityschools.org/sites/default/files/inline-files/999_schoolprofile_0.pdf
- Baltimore City Public Schools. (2020g). 2007-2019_SchoolSurvey-District. Retrieved from https://www.baltimorecityschools.org/data

Baltimore Educational Research Coalition. (2014). *Data tools on climate and effectiveness to inform organizational health*. Retrieved from <u>https://baltimore-</u> berc.org/?s=climate+tools+2014

Barbot, O. (2014). Baltimore City health disparities report card 2013. Baltimore City Health
Department Office of Epidemiologic Service. Retrieved from
https://health.baltimorecity.gov/sites/default/files/Health%20Disparities%20Report%20C
ard%20FINAL%2024-Apr-14.pdf

- Baron, K. (2015, July 17). After-school cuts on the table in Congress. *Edweek*. Retrieved from https://www.edweek.org/leadership/after-school-cuts-on-the-table-in-congress/2015/07
- Battistich, V., & Hom, A. (1997). The relationship between students' sense of their school as a community and their involvement in problem behaviors. *American Journal of Public Health*, 87(12), 1997–2001. <u>https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.87.12.1997</u>
- Bear, G. G., Yang, C., Pell, M., & Gaskins, C. (2014). Validation of a brief measure of teachers' perceptions of school climate: Relations to student achievement and suspensions. *Learning Environments Research*, 17(3), 339–354.
- Benson, L., Harkavy, I. R., & Puckett, J. L. (2007). Dewey's dream: Universities and democracies in an age of education civil society, public schools, and democratic citizenship. Temple University Press.
- Biag, M., & Castrechini, S. (2016). Reform: Coordinated strategies to help the whole child: Examining the contributions of full-service community schools. *Journal of Education for Students Placed at Risk*, 21(3), 157–173.
- Blair, L., & Southwest Educational Development Lab. (2000). Strategies for change:Implementing a comprehensive school reform program, Part 1. *CSRD Connections*, 1(2).

- Black, G. L. (2010). Correlational analysis of servant leadership and school climate. *Journal of Catholic Education*, 13(4), 437–466.
- Blank, M. J., Jacobson, R., Melaville, A., Pearson, S. S., & Coalition for Community Schools.
 (2010). *Financing community schools: Leveraging resources to support student success*.
 Coalition for Community Schools.
- Blank, M., Jacobson, R., & Pearson, S. S. (2009). A coordinated effort: Well-conducted partnerships meet students' academic, health, and social service needs. *Education Digest: Essential Readings Condensed for Quick Review*, 75(3), 42–47.
- Blank, M. J., & Jamal, S. S. (2014). Mayor Bill De Blasio focuses on community schools in New York City. Retrieved from <u>http://www.wholechildeducation.org/blog/mayor-bill-de-</u> blasio-focuses-on-communityschools-in-new-york-city
- Blank, M. J., Melaville, A., Shah, B. P., & Coalition for Community Schools. (2003).
 Making the difference: Research and practice in community schools. Coalition for Community Schools.
- Brescia, R. H. (2009). Subprime communities: Reverse redlining, the Fair Housing Act and emerging issues in litigation regarding the subprime mortgage crisis. *Albany Government Law Review*, 2(1), 164–216.
- Browne, L. W. (2014). Toxic stress among children in urban schools. *Delaware Lawyer*, *32*(4), 16–19.
- Bryk, A. S. (2010). Organizing schools for improvement. *Phi Delta Kappan*, 91(7), 23–30. https://doi.org/10.1177/003172171009100705
- Bryk, A. S., & Schneider, B. (2003). Trust in schools: A core resource for school reform. *Educational Leadership*, *60*(6), 40.

- Castrechini, S., London, R. A., & Center for American Progress. (2012). *Positive student outcomes in community schools*. Center for American Progress.
- City of New York. (2014). *De Blasio Administration Announces \$52 Million Investment to Launch Community Schools*. Retrieved from <u>https://www1.nyc.gov/office-of-the-</u> mayor/news/292-14/de-blasio-administration-52-million-investment-launch-communityschools
- Clapp, E. R. (1939). Community schools in action. The Viking Press.
- Coalition for Community Schools. (2020). *What is a community school*? Retrieved from http://www.communityschools.org/aboutschools/what_is_a_community_school.aspx#:~:t ext=A%20community%20school%20is%20both,stronger%20families%20and%20healthi er%20communities.
- Collins, E., Rasic, M., & Taplin, D. (2017). Progress through partnership: Hartford Community Schools evaluation report 2015–16. ActKnowledge
- Coltoff, P., Kaplan, M., Moses, C. W., & Stack, K. (1997). Building a community school (Rev. ed.). New York: Children's Aid Society
- Comer, J. (1980). School power: Implications of an intervention project. Free Press.
- Comer, J. (1988). Educating poor minority children. *Scientific American*, 259(5), 42–48. https://doi.org/10.1038/scientificamerican1188-42
- Comer, J. P., Ben-Avie, M., Haynes, N. M., & Joyner, E. T. (1996). *Rallying the whole village: The Comer process for reforming education*. Teachers College Press.
- Communities in Schools. (2016). *10 surprising reasons kids don't go to school*. Retrieved from <u>http://www.communitiesinschools.org/our-results/successstories/story/10-surprising-reasons/</u>

- Community Matters. (2014). *The whole school climate framework: Creating safer schools from the inside-out.* www.community-matters.org.
- Connecting Communities of Courage: Building Inclusive, Safe, and Engaging Schools. A Summit Re-cap Report. (2018). *Report and recommendations from the National School Climate Center*. NSCC. https://schoolclimate.org/wpcontent/uploads/2021/05/NSCC_SummitRecap.pdf
- Connolly, F., Plank, S., Rone, T., & Baltimore Education Research Consortium. (2012).
 Baltimore Education Research Consortium: A consideration of past, present, and future. Baltimore Education Research Consortium.
- Cook, T. D., & Hirschfield, P. J. (2008). Comer's school development program in Chicago:
 Effects on involvement with the juvenile justice system from the late elementary through the high school years. *American Educational Research Journal*, 45(1), 38–67.
 https://doi.org/10.3102/0002831207308648
- Cosgrove, J. M., Chen, Y. T., & Castelli, D. M. (2018). Physical fitness, grit, school attendance, and academic performance among adolescents. *BioMed Research International*, 2018, Article ID 9801258. https://doi.org/10.1155/2018/9801258
- Crawford, S. T. (2011). *Meta-analysis of the impact of after-school programs on students reading and mathematics performance* [ProQuest Information & Learning]. In
 Dissertation Abstracts International Section A: Humanities and Social Sciences (Vol. 73, Issue 3–A, p. 942).
- Daily, S. M., Smith, M. L., Lilly, C. L., Davidov, D. M., Mann, M. J., & Kristjansson, A. L.

(2020). Using school climate to improve attendance and grades: Understanding the importance of school satisfaction among middle and high school students. *Journal of School Health*, 90(9), 683–693. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/josh.12929</u>

- Daniel, J., Snyder, J. D., Stanford Center for Opportunity Policy in Education, &
 University of Colorado at Boulder. (2016). *Community schools as an effective strategy* for reform. Research Brief. Stanford Center for Opportunity Policy in Education.
- Davis, K. A., Allen-Milton, S., & Coats-Boynton, S. (2019). Making the case for results-based accountability as an intervention for chronic absenteeism in schools to improve attendance. *Race and Justice*, *9*(1), 46–59. https://doi.org/10.1177/2153368718816500
- Desimone, L. (2002). How can comprehensive school reform models be successfully implemented? *Review of Educational Research*, 72(3), 433.
- Dewey, J. (1902). The child and the curriculum. University of Chicago Press.

Dewey, J., & Dewey, E. (1915). Schools of tomorrow. Dutton.

- Diener, E., Ng, W., & Tov, W. (2008). Balance in life and declining marginal utility of diverse resources. *Applied Research in Quality of Life*, *3*, 277–291.
- Duncan, A. (2010, December 7). Secretary Duncan: Schools must become centers of communities [Interview]. <u>http://www.pbs.org/newshour/bb/education-julydec10-</u> duncan_12-07/
- Durham, R. E., Connolly, F., & Baltimore Education Research Consortium. (2017).
 Strategies for student attendance and school climate in Baltimore's community schools.
 Baltimore Education Research Consortium.

Education. (2019). Gallup. Retrieved from <u>https://news.gallup.com/poll/1612/education.aspx</u> Eide, E. R., & Showalter, M. H. (2010). Human capital. In P. Peterson, R. Tierney, E. Baker, & B. McGaw (Eds.), *International encyclopedia of education* (pp. 282-287). Elsevier Science.

- Ekstrand, B. (2015). What it takes to keep children in school: A research review. *Educational Review*, 67(4), 459–482. https://doi.org/10.1080/00131911.2015.1008406
- Elliott, J. G., & Elliott, P. J. (1996). Parent involvement typologies and student achievement: A correlational study of the overlapping spheres of influence (Paper 2672). [Doctoral dissertation, East Tennessee State University] Electronic Theses and Dissertations, Student Works. https://dc.etsu.edu/etd/
- Elliott, J., & Place, M. (2019). Practitioner Review: School refusal: developments in conceptualisation and treatment since 2000. Journal of child psychology and psychiatry, and allied disciplines, 60 1, 4-15.
- Englert, R. (1993). Understanding the Urban Context and Conditions of Practice of School Administration. Publication Series #93-7.
- Epstein, J. L. (2006). Families, schools, and community partnerships. *Young Children*, *61*(1), 40.
- Epstein, J. L. (2010). School/family/community partnerships: caring for the children we share:
 When schools form partnerships with families and the community, the children benefit.
 These guidelines for building partnerships can make it happen. *Phi Delta Kappan*, 92(3), 81.
- Epstein, J. L. (2011). School, family, and community partnerships: Preparing educators and improving schools. Routledge.
- Epstein, J. L., & Salinas, K. C. (2004). Partnering with families and communities. *Educational Leadership*, *61*(8), 12–17.

- Epstein, J. L., Sanders, M. G., Simon, B. S., Salinas, K. C., Jansorn, N. R., & Van Voorhis, F. L.(2002). School, family, and community partnerships: Your handbook for action (2nd ed.).Corwin Press.
- Epstein, J. L., & Sheldon, S. B. (2002). Present and accounted for: Improving student attendance through family and community involvement. *Journal of Educational Research*, 95, 308– 318.
- Family Focused Updates Quick Reference. (2020, March). Retrieved from https://www.baltimorecityschools.org/sites/default/files/2020 O4/Family_Focused_Updates_Quick_Reference_March.pdf
- Family League of Baltimore. (2017). 2017 Annual Report. Family League of Baltimore. <u>https://www.familyleague.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/02/2017-Annual-Report-</u> Final.pdf
- Family League of Baltimore. (2020). *Community schools and out of school time*. Family League of Baltimore. https://familyleague.org/community-schools-and-ost/
- Farbman, D. A., & National Center on Time & Learning. (2015). The case for improving and expanding time in school: A review of key research and practice. Updated and revised February 2015. National Center on Time & Learning.
- Feasy, S. (2017). Schools, families, and community: Overlapping spheres of influence. The road less traveled by. Retrieved from <u>https://theroadlesstravelledby.com/2017/09/28/schools-families-andcommunity-</u>

overlapping-spheres-of-influence/

Figlio, D. (2015). Experimental evidence of the effects of the

Communities in Schools of Chicago Partnership Program on student achievement, (pp. 1–11). https://cisofchicago.org/wp-content/uploads/CIS-of-Chicago-Evaluation_Full.pdf

FitzGerald, A., & Quinones, S. (2018). The community school coordinator: Leader and professional capacity builder. *Journal of Professional Capital and Community*, 3(4), 272–286. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/JPCC-02-2018-0008</u>

Fontenot, K., Semega, J., & Kollar, M. (2018). Income and Poverty in the Unites States, 2017.
U.S. Census Bureau, Report Number P60-263.
https://www.census.gov/content/dam/Census/library/publications/2018/demo/p60-263.pdf

Frankl, E., Southern Education Foundation, & Coalition for Community Schools. (2016). Community schools: Transforming struggling schools into thriving schools. Southern Education Foundation.

Fratt, L. (2006). Growing community schools. District Administration, 42(9), 67-68.

Freeman, J., Wilkinson, S., Kowitt, J., Kittelman, A., & Flannery, K. (2018). Research-supported practices for improving attendance in high schools: a review of the literature. *Educational Research and Evaluation*, 24(8), 481–503.

https://doi.org/10.1080/13803611.2019.1602546

- Gama, F. (2016). The racial politics of protection: A critical race examination of police militarization. *California Law Review*, *104*, 979–1008.
- Gay, L.R., Mills, G.E., & Airasian, P. (2012). *Educational research: Competencies for analysis* and applications. Pearson.
- Gehring, J. (2005, March 23). Proponents of community schools argue for wider view of education. *Education Week*, 24(28), 12.

- Gomez, D., Gonzales, L., Niebuhr, D., & Villarreal, L. (2012). Community schools: A full spectrum resource: Meeting the needs of the whole child is the goal of community schools, which partner with other agencies to offer a range of services and opportunities. *Leadership*, 41(4), 28. https://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ971414
- Gomez, M.B. (2016). Policing, community fragmentation, and public health: Observations from Baltimore. *Journal of Urban Health*, *93*(1), S154-S167.
- Governor Hogan Announces Major Actions to Protect Public Health, Limit Spread of COVID-19 Pandemic. (2020, March 12). Retrieved from https://governor.maryland.gov/2020/03/12/governor-hogan-announces-major-actions-toprotect-public-health-limit-spread-of-covid-19-pandemic/
- Green, T. L., & Goodman, M. A. (2014). Transforming out-of-school challenges into opportunities: Community schools reform in the urban midwest. *Urban Education*, 49(8), 930–954.
- Grice, C. L., Hill, J. W., & Hayes, K. L. (2012). Do declining neighborhood economic conditions trump hoped for school renovation renewal benefit? *Advances in Applied Sociology*, 2(2), 102–110.
- Halsey, P. (2001). Exploring school-family partnerships: A case study of teachers', parents', and students' perceptions of parental involvement in a middle level school [Unpublished doctoral dissertation]. Texas Tech University.

Hansan, J. (2011). *The American era of child labor*. Social Welfare History Project. Retrieved from http://socialwelfare.library.vcu.edu/programs/child-welfarechild-labor/child-labor/

Heers, M., Van Klaveren, C., Groot, W., & van den Brink, H. M. (2014). The impact of

community schools on student dropout in pre-vocational education. *Economics of Education Review*, 41, 105–119. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.econedurev.2014.05.003</u>

- Henderson, A. T., Mapp, K. L., & SEDL National Center for Family and Community
 Connections with Schools. (2002). A new wave of evidence: The impact of school, family,
 and community connections on student achievement. Annual synthesis 2002. National
 Center for Family and Community Connections with Schools.
- Heraclitus, & Khan, C. H. (1981). *The art and thought of Heraclitus*. Cambridge University Press.
- Hinz, E., Kapp, L., & Snapp, S. (2003). Student Attendance and Mobility in Minneapolis Public Schools. The Journal of Negro Education, 72(1), 141-149.
- Holloway, J. H. (2004, May 1). How the community influences achievement. *Educational Leadership*, 61(8), 89.
- Holme, J. J., Castro, A. J., Germain, E., Haynes, M., Sikes, C. L., & Barnes, M. (2020).
 Community schools as an urban school reform strategy: Examining partnerships, governance, and sustainability through the lens of the full-service community schools grant program. *Educational Policy*. https://doi.org/10.1177/0895904820901479
- Huang, F., & Anyon, Y. (2020). The relationship between school disciplinary resolutions with school climate and attitudes toward school. *Preventing School Failure*, 64(3), 212–222. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/1045988X.2020.1722940</u>
- Ice, M., & Cohen, J. (2015). Recognizing community voice and a youth-led school community partnership in the school climate improvement process. *School Community Journal*, 25, 9–28.

Jacobson, R., Jamal, S., Jacobson, L., & Blank, M. (2013). The growing convergence of

community schools and expanded learning opportunities. Institute for Educational Leadership and Coalition for Community Schools, December 2013, 1–46.

Jargowsky, P. A., El Komi, M., & Urban Institute, National Center for Analysis of Longitudinal Data in Education Research. (2009). Before or after the bell? School context and neighborhood effects on student

achievement. Working Paper 28. National Center for Analysis of Longitudinal Data in Education Research.

- Jehl, J., Blank, M. J., & McCloud, B. (2001). Education and community building: Connecting two worlds. Institute for Educational Leadership.
- Johnson, K., & Williams, L. (2015). When treating all the kids the same is the real problem: Educational leadership and the 21st century dilemma of difference. Corwin.

Johnston, W. R., Engberg, J., Opper, I. M., Sontag-Padilla, L., & Xenakis, L. (2020). *Illustrating the promise of community schools: An assessment of the impact of the New York City Community Schools Initiative*. City of New York, RR-3245-NYCCEO. <u>https://www.rand.org/pubs/research_reports/RR3245.html</u>

- Jordan, C. F. (1999, December). Using collaborative action teams to create community schools. *NASSP Bulletin*, 83(611), 48–56.
- Kania, J., & Kramer, M. (2011). Collective impact. *Stanford* Social Innovation Review. https://ssir.org/articles/entry/collective_impact
- Kearney, C. A. (2016). Managing school absenteeism at multiple tiers: An evidence based and practical guide for professionals. New York: Oxford University Press.
- Kerensky, V. M. (1981). Ten educational myths: A community educator's perspective. *Community Education Journal*, 82, 9–13.

- Kelly, M. M., & Li, K. (2019). Poverty, toxic stress, and education in children born preterm. *Nursing Research*, 68(4), 275–284. https://doi.org/10.1097/NNR.00000000000360
- Kim, J., Hargrave, E., Uy-Brooks, V., & Public Impact. (2018). *The secret to sustainable school transformation: Slow and steady wins the race. Executive summary.* Public Impact.
- Maier, A., Daniel, J., Oakes, J., Lam, L., Learning Policy Institute, & University of Colorado at Boulder. (2017). *Community schools as an effective school improvement strategy: A review of the evidence*. Learning Policy Institute.
- Mallett, C. A. (2016). The school-to-prison pipeline: A critical review of the punitive paradigm shift. *Child and Adolescent Social Work Journal*, *33*(1), 15–24.
- Martin, D., & Potter, L. (1998). How teachers can help students get their learning styles met at school and at home. *Education*, *118*(4), 549.
- Maryland Alliance for the Poor. (2018). 2018 Maryland poverty profiles. Retrieved from <u>https://mda.maryland.gov/about_mda/Documents/SNAB/Maryland-</u> PovertyProfiles_2018_1-15-2018_T.pdf
- Maryland.gov (2020). Governor Hogan announces major actions to protect public health, limit spread of COVID-19 pandemic. Available at

https://governor.maryland.gov/2020/03/12/governor-hogan

- Maryland Poverty Rate. (2017) Retrieved from <u>https://talkpoverty.org/state-year-</u> report/maryland-2017-report/
- Maryland Report Card. (2017). Retrieved March 19, 2021, from

https://msp2017.msde.state.md.us/Entity.aspx?WDATA=State

Maryland State Department of Education. (2016). 2016 Maryland report card. Available at <u>http://reportcard.msde.maryland.gov/</u> Maryland State Department of Education. (2018). *State board meeting: Partnership for Assessment of Readiness for College and Careers (PARCC) results 2018*. Retrieved from <u>http://marylandpublicschools.org/stateboard/Documents/08282018/TabIPARCCResults.p</u> <u>df</u>

Maryland State Department of Education. (2018). 2018 Baltimore City Schools at a glance.

Retrieved from

https://msp2018.msde.maryland.gov/Graphs/#/Demographics/Enrollment/3/17/6/3

0/XXXX

Maryland State Department of Education, Division of Assessment, Accountability, and Information Technology. (2019). *Summary of attendance: Maryland Public Schools* 2017-2018. Retrieved from

http://www.marylandpublicschools.org/about/Documents/DCAA/SSP/20172018Student/ 2018Attendance.pdf

McDaniels, A. (2018). Building community schools systems: Removing barriers to success in U.S. public schools. Center for American Progress.

https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/education-

k12/reports/2018/08/22/454977/building-community-

schoolssystems/#:~:text=There%20are%20roughly%205%2C000%20community,to%20

%2415%20in% 20social%20value.

Momeni, P., (2015). The *impact of full-service community school programs on student* Success. California State University.

Moore, K. A. (2014). *Making the grade: Assessing the evidence for integrated student supports* [Publication #2014-07]. Child Trends.

National Center for Mental Health Promotion and Youth Violence Prevention. (2012). *Childhood trauma and its effect on healthy development*. Retrieved from <u>http://sshs.promoteprevent.org/sites/default/files/trauma_brief_in_final.pdf</u>

National Center on Safe Supportive Learning Environments. (2020). *School climate improvement action guide for community partners*. Retrieved from https://safesupportivelearning.ed.gov/sites/default/files/SCIRP/actionguidecompartwhole. pdf

- National Education Association. (2008). *Parent, family, community involvement in education*. Author.
- National School Climate Center. (2020). *The 13 dimensions of school climate measured by the CSCI*. Retrieved from

https://www.schoolclimate.org/themes/schoolclimate/assets/pdf/csci/CSCI-

DimensionsChart_2019.pdf

- Nettles, S. M. (1991). Community involvement and disadvantaged students: A review. *Review* of Educational Research, 61(3), 379–406. <u>https://doi.org/10.3102/00346543061003379</u>
- niche.com. (2016, January). 2016 best school districts in Maryland. Retrieved from https://k12.niche.com/rankings/public-school-districts/best-overall/s/maryland/? utm_source=gppc&utm_campaign=gppc_md_sd&gclid=CjwKEAiA8qG1BRDz0tmK0p ufw3QSJACfn6olA1-vRal-O8vZ8T-gGgyiqDucjA9VEsJnT5PHVVyiYhoCXRDw_wcB
- Noguera, P. (2012). *Creating the schools we need*. Occasional Paper Series, 2012 (27). Retrieved from <u>https://educate.bankstreet.edu/occasional-paper-series/vol2012/iss27/11</u>

Oakes, J., Maier, A., & Daniel, J. (2017). Community schools: An evidence-based strategy for do

community schools make a difference? Available at

http://nepc.colorado.edu/publication/equitable-community-schools

- Office of Innovation & Improvement. (2014). *Community schools: Supporting students in Baltimore*. https://oese.ed.gov/2014/11/community-schools-supporting-students-inbaltimore/
- Office of the Mayor, Department of Education, Department of Youth and Community Development, Department of Health and Mental Hygiene, NYC Children's Cabinet. (2014). *New York City community schools strategic plan*. NYC Community Schools Advisory Board. Available at nyc.gov/community schools
- Oghuvbu, E. P. (2010). Attendance and academic performance of students in secondary schools: A correlational approach. *Studies on Home and Community Science*, *4*(1), 21–25.
- Olson, L. S. (2014). *A first look at community schools in Baltimore*. Baltimore Education Research Consortium.
- OMG Center for Collaborative Learning. (2011). *Final Report 2009-2011 Hartford Community Schools Evaluation Submitted to the School-Community Partnership*. Retrieved from https://www.hfpg.org/application/files/9715/8104/1550/Hartford_Community_Schools_2 011_OMG_Center.pdf
- Pappoe, Y. N. (2016). Remedying the effects of government-sanctioned segregation in a post Freddie Gray Baltimore. University of Maryland Law Journal Race Religion Gender & Class, 16(6), 115–143.
- Parke, C. S., & Kanyongo, G. Y. (2012) Student attendance, mobility, and mathematics achievement in an urban school district. *Journal of Educational Research*, *105*(3), 161.

Parsons, T. (1985). The school class as a social system: Some of its functions in American

society. In J. Ballantine (Ed.), *School and society: A reader in education and sociology* (pp. 179–197). Mayfield Publishing.

- Payne, A. (2018). Creating and sustaining a positive and communal school climate:
 Contemporary research, present obstacles, and future directions. National Institute of Justice.
- Potapchuk, W. R. (2013). The role of community schools in place-based initiatives:
 Collaborating for student success. Coalition for Community Schools, Institute for
 Educational Leadership.
- Prinzing, D. (2004). Americanization, immigration, and civic education: The education of the 'ignorant and free.' [Paper prepared for the German/American Conference]. Boise State University. <u>https://www.civiced.org/pdfs/PrinzingDan.pdf</u>

Pyrczak, F. (2010). Making sense of statistics: A conceptual overview. Author.

- Raffo, C., & Dyson, A. (2007). Full service extended schools and educational inequality in urban areas contexts-new opportunities for progress? *Journal of Education Policy*, 22(3), 263–282.
- Ravitch, D. (1983). *The troubled crusade: American education 1945–1980*. Basic Books.
- Reform Support Network. (2014). *Strategies for Community Engagement in School Turnaround*. Retrieved from <u>https://www2.ed.gov/about/inits/ed/implementation-support-unit/tech-</u>assist/strategies-for-community-engagement-in-school-turnaround.pdf
- Reyes, A. (2020). Compulsory school attendance: The new American crime. *Education Sciences*, *10*(3).

Robelen, E. W. (2009). Study of Harlem Children's Zone finds gaps closing. Education Week,

- 12.
- Roche, M. K., Strobach, K. V., Coalition for Community Schools, Institute for Educational Leadership, & National Association of School Psychologists. (2019). *Nine elements of effective school community partnerships to address student mental health, physical health, and overall wellness.* Coalition for Community Schools.
- Rose, S., Xie, D., & Stineman, M. (2014). Adverse childhood experiences and disability in U.S. adults. *American Academy of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation*, 6(8), 670–680.
- Sampson, R. J., & Laub, J. H. (1993). Crime in the making: Pathways and turning points through life. Harvard University Press.
- Sanders, M. G. (2001). The role of "community" in comprehensive school, family, and community partnership programs. The Elementary School Journal, 102(1), 19-34.
- Sanders, M. (2003). Community involvement in schools from content to process. *Education and Urban Society*, 35(2)161-180.
- Schrager, A. (2018). Factory schools: The modern education system was designed to teach future factory workers to be 'punctual, docile, and sober.' *Quartz*. <u>https://qz.com/1314814/universal-education-was-first-promoted-by-industrialists-</u> <u>whowanted-docile-factory-workers/</u>
- Sheldon, S. (2007). Improving student attendance with school, family, and community partnerships. *Journal of Educational Research*, *100*(5), 267.
- Sheldon, S. B., & Epstein, J. L. (2004). Getting students to school: Using family and community involvement to reduce chronic absenteeism. *School Community Journal*, 14(2)39–56.

- Sirgy, M., & Wu, J. (2009). The pleasant life, the engaged life, and the meaningful life: What about the balanced life? *Journal of Happiness Studies*, 10(2), 183–196.
- StatSoft. (2013). Electronic statistics textbook. Available at http://www.statsoft.com/textbook/.
- Stein, L. B., (2009). The influence of parent and community involvement on local school councils in Massachusetts. University of Massachusetts.
- Stempel, H., Cox-Martin, M., Bronsert, M., Dickinson, L. M., & Allison, M. A. (2017). Chronic school absenteeism and the role of adverse childhood experiences. *Academic Pediatrics*, 17, 837–843. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.acap.2017.09.013</u>.
- Sturt, D., & Nordstrom, T. (2013, October 18). Are you asking the right question? Forbes. Retrieved from <u>http://www.forbes.com/sites/davidsturt/2013/10/18/are-you-asking-the-right-question/</u>
- Sun, A. (2014). Equality is not enough: What the classroom has taught me about justice. *Everyday Feminism*. <u>https://everydayfeminism.com/2014/09/equality-is-not-enough/</u>
- Superville, D. R. (2017). As schools tackle poverty, attendance goes up, but academic gains are tepid. *Education Digest*, 83(2), 46. Retrieved from https://www.edweek.org/leadership/as-schools-tackle-poverty-attendance-goes-up-butacademic-gains-are-tepid/2017/07
- Tay, L., & Diener, E. (2011). Needs and subjective well-being around the world. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 101(2), 354–365.
- Theobald, P. (1991). Community schools in the national context: The social and cultural impact of educational reform movements on American rural schools. *Journal of Research in Rural Education*, 7(3), 3–14.

Turney, K., Clampet-Lundquist, S., Edin, K., Kling, J. R., & Duncan, G. J. (2006).
 Neighborhood effects on barriers to employment: Results from a randomized housing mobility experiment in Baltimore. Brookings-Wharton Papers on Urban Affairs.
 Brookings Institution Press.

- Tyack, D. B., & Cuban, L. (1995). Tinkering toward utopia: A century of public school reform. Harvard University Press.
- U.S. Census Bureau. (2015). *State and county quick facts*. https://www.census.gov/quickfacts/fact/table/baltimorecitymaryland/PST045219
- U.S. Department of Education. (2014a). *Elementary and Secondary Education Act*. http://www.ed.gov/esea
- U.S. Department of Education. (2014b). *Full-service community schools programs*. [Online] Available at <u>www.ed.gov</u>
- U.S. Department of Education. (2015). *Education for the disadvantaged-grants to local educational agencies*. http://www2.ed.gov/programs/titleiparta/index.html
- U.S. Department of Education. (2017). *Programs: Race to the Top Assessment Program, awards*. Retrieved from <u>www.ed.gov</u>
- Voyles, M. M. (2012). Perceived needs of at-risk families in a small town: Implications for full-service community schools. *School Community Journal*, 22(2), 31–63.
- Waddock, S. (1995). Not by schools alone: Sharing responsibility for America's education reform. Praeger.
- Wald, J., & Losen, D. J. (2003). Defining and redirecting a school-to-prison pipeline. New Directions for Youth Development, 2003(99), 9–15.

Walker, V. S. (2000). Their highest potential: An African American school community in the

segregated South. University of North Carolina Press.

Weston, S. J., Ritchie, S. J., Rohrer, J. M., & Przybylski, A. K. (2019). Recommendations for increasing the transparency of analysis of preexisting data sets. *Advances in Methods and Practices in Psychological Science*, 2(3), 214–227.

https://doi.org/10.1177/2515245919848684

Wohn, C., & Boberiene, L. (2018). Thinking about useful school metrics: Comparing "like" schools. [Online] Available at <u>https://baltimore-</u>

berc.org/wpcontent/uploads/2018/12/LikeSchoolsComparisonDecember2018.pdf

- Wood, L., & Bauman, E. (2017). How family, school, and community engagement can improve student achievement and influence school reform. American Institute for Research and Nellie Mae Education Foundation.
- Young, K., & Marx, E. (1992). What does learning mean for infants and toddlers? The contributions of the child, family, and community. Johns Hopkins University, Center on Families, Communities, Schools, and Children's Learning.